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MARJCORY STONEMAN DOUGLAS H GH SCHOOL
PUBLI C SAFETY COWM SSI ON MEETI NG
BB&T CENTER CHAI RVAN' S CLUB
PANTHER PARKWAY SUNRI SE, FLORI DA 33323

Novenber 15, 2018

COWM SSI ON MEMBERS/ ATTENDEES:
SHERI FF BOB GUALTI ERI - CHAIR
JASON JONES - PSC GENERAL COUNSEL
CHRI'S NELSON - CH EF OF POLICE, G TY OF AUBURNDALE
BRUCE BARTLETT - CHI EF ASSI STANT STATE ATTORNEY,
SI XTH JUDI Gl AL CIRCUI T
M KE CARRCLL - FORVMER SECRETARY, DCF
Rl CHARD SWEARI NGEN - COWM SSI ONER FLORI DA DEPARTMENT
OF LAW ENFORCEMENT
MAX SCHACHTER - VI CTI M PARENT
LARRY ASHLEY - SHERI FF, OKALOOSA COUNTY
MELI SSA LARKI N SKI NNER - CEO, CENTERSTONE OF FLORI DA
PAM STUART - COWM SSI ONER OF EDUCATI ON
JUSTI N SENI OR - SECRETARY, AHCA
TI MOTHY NI ERVANN, SECRETARY, DEPT OF JUVEN LE
JUSTI CE REBECCA KAPUSTA - SECRETARY, DCF
JAMES HARPRI NG - UNDERSHERI FF/ GC, | NDI AN RI VER
COUNTY
DESMOND BLACKBURN - SUPERI NTENDENT, BREVARD COUNTY
GRADY JUDD - SHERI FF, POLK COUNTY
DOUGLAS DCDD - SCHOCOL BOARD MEMBER, ClI TRUS COUNTY
LAUREN BOCK - SENATOR, DI STRICT 32
RYAN PETTY - VI CTI M PARENT
MARSHA POVERS - SCHOOL BOARD MEMBER, MARTI N COUNTY
KEVI N LYSTAD - PRESI DENT, FLORI DA POLI CE CH EF ASSCC
CHRI STI NA LI NTON - COW SSI ON STAFF, FDLE
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(Thereupon, the neeting is called to order:)

CHAIR. Al right, I think we're ready to
go ahead and get started. So we're going to
continue this norning with the | aw enforcenent
response presentation. Before we do get
started I want to just kind of give you what |
think will be a roadmap for the day today, and
alittle bit about how we're going to proceed.
Before | do that though | want to answer one
gquestion that cane up yesterday, and | forgot
who asked it. M. Schachter, you may have
asked it, about the nunmber of people within the
St oneman Dougl as school, and the school system
specifically in Stoneman Dougl as that we
i ntervi ewed, and that nunber is, is at | east
si xty people, teachers, admnistrators, et
cetera, on canpus, that were interviewed at
| east once. So it's at |east sixty people at
| east once. So the nunber of interviews that
wer e done were extensive.

MR. SCHACHTER: Can you -- can you tell ne
how many refused to be interviewd?

CHAIR  Sevent een.

MR. SCHACHTER: Thank you.

CHAIR And along those lines | want to
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say it again, is, is that | can't stress it
enough that the [ evel of cooperation, the |eve
of professionalism and the |evel of
transparency fromthe Broward County Schoo
District, fromthe Coral Springs Police
Departnment and the Broward County Sheriff's

O fice, and everybody that we've dealt wth,

I ncl udi ng the union representing the teachers,
the unions representing the adm ni strators,
everybody across the board has been

prof essi onal, transparent, and cooperative, but
that doesn't nean that it hasn't been w thout
its chall enges, and we've had to nake deci sions
al ong the way that create the environnent that
we can get the information we need, and we can
get the interviews to be acconplished.

There were a nunber of people that had
some concerns that did agree to participate in
the interviews after discussions, and quite
frankly in sone cases after sone negotiations,
because they had al ready been intervi ewed
several times, and we needed to nmake sure that,
that they were willing to, you know,
participate, and cooperate, because they were

concerned about neking statenments nultiple
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times, and having sone perception that they
were going to be making inconsistent statenents
j ust because they have told that story two,
three, four or five tinmes, so we had to nake
deci sions al ong the way about how these
i nterviews were going to be conduct ed.

Keep in mnd is, is that what this body
Is. This body is an investigative body that is
to cone up with the facts of what happened, and
to make recommendations. W cannot make any
deci sions. W can't discipline anybody. W

can't find anybody at fault and inpose any

sanctions. Is -- is that we can -- and what |
think we all hope, I know what | hope is, is
that people wll find us to be objective, fact

based, and at the end of the day is, is that we
were fair, you know, we haven't favored
anyt hi ng or anybody, or any side of this, and
just calling balls and strikes as we see it,
and that people listen to the reconmendati ons
that cone out of this comm ssion because they
are fair, they are objective, and they are fact
based.

So we neet once a nonth. W didn't neet

in Cctober, we had a sixty day gap in there,

800-726-7007

Veritext Legal Solutions

305-376-8800



© 00 N o o~ wWw N

N N N N N N P B P PP R R R R
a A W N BB O © 0O N O 0o~ W N+, O

Page 5

and we need to get things done. W're on a
very, very tight time frane. As | said on
Tuesday when we opened, and you all know this,
Is that what you all are doing Yeoman's work,
i n that nost conm ssions that have investigated
t hese incidents haven't produced reports for
between two and a half and three years, and
we're in essence putting it together in about
seven or eight nonths, to have sonething that
I s nmeani ngful, and that people can understand
what happened, and the | egislature has an
opportunity to tweak 7026 and nmake any
additions that it deens necessary, and so that
the districts and the others have the
Information so that it doesn't take a | ong
time, and you can see the needl e nove, and you
can see things being acconplished.

So, you know, with that, we have all done
t he best we can wth what we've had to work
with in that short tinme frame, but it wouldn't
be wi thout the cooperation of the people that
we have had to get this information from And
t hey have been transparent, they have been
cooperative, but again, it hasn't been w thout

its chall enges, and we've been largely able to
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overcone those chall enges by creating an
environnment that they believe is fair, and that
we are doi ng nothing other than seeking the
facts, and seeking the truth, and that they've
been treated fairly at the end of it.

And -- and | think that, that we've
acconplished that, so -- and again, we've
probably interviewed well over two hundred
peopl e at | east once, and sone of those people
have been interviewed nultiple tines. o
ahead.

MR. SCHACHTER: O the seventeen, were all
MSD adm ni stration and staff interviewed?

CHAIR Al administrators were
interviewed. No adm nistrators refused. The
only people that refused were teachers, and
sone gui dance counselors in the past, and sone
of those went back to people who were not on
canmpus or involved in February 14th but may be
I nvolved in the threat assessnent process
previously. And there are sone people that we
are going to go back to who refused, and we are
going to issue subpoenas to them because they
weren't on canpus that day, and they're really

not in a situation where it's enotional, or
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that they have sone sensitivity issues, and
that, you know, they probably do, it does need
to be pursued.

But again, we can't do this all at once,
Is, is that there's an interimreport that's
due in January, we're going to submt it on
time, but this commssion's work i s not over
w th, and nobody should be m staken that just
because we are going through what we are doi ng
now, and we're going to submt that report in
January, that this is over. And in sone
respects it's just the beginning, and where we
go, we'll have that discussion in Decenber. W
got to get through this today, and get the work
done this week so that we can get this report
together and get a draft to you.

It's going to be a challenge to get a
draft report to all of you well enough in
advance of the Decenber neeting to you have
time to read it, and digest it, nake your
recommendat i ons, and we can have a productive
nmeeting in Decenber about finalizing that
report. We can't walk into the Decenber
nmeeti ng and hand you the report in the day of

t he Decenber neeting. W have to get it to you
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ahead of tinme so that you have an opportunity
to do what you need to do with it and then

provi de your input. So this is why we got to
just nove this, we got to nove this along, and

that's the, that's the juncture.

But renenber -- and | think there m ght be
some -- yes, slight confusion on this, is, is
that we are -- we cannot -- we have no

authority to inpose any discipline, or any
sanctions, or to do anything other than to find
t hese facts and turn them over to the school
board, to the Sheriff, or to anybody else if we
find that it warrants further investigation
i nt o what peopl e have done or didn't do, we
can't do that, and so that's the role, and then
to make this public finding as to specifically
what occurred, and to make recomendations to
the legislature. So we have to keep in mnd as
we are going through this, and | think
everybody has to keep in mnd what this role
I S.

So for today Sergeant Suess is going to
finish his presentation. W have a hard stop
of 2:00, and the reason why we have a hard stop

of 2:00 is, is because M. Peterson is under
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subpoena. He'll be here to testify at 2:00,
and we're going to stop before then, so we
really need to get through Sergeant Suess'
presentation, there's a long, there's a ways to
go with that.

And just for housekeeping, so that we know
what the plan is, anybody's got any questions
about it, ask, we can discuss it, is, is that
when Deputy Peterson cones in to testify
Comm ssioner Bartlett is going to take the |ead
on that. He's prepared to ask the questions,
and to get everything on the table. And then
after Comm ssioner Bartlett goes through the
guestions, and leads that in a very thorough
conprehensi ve way, then each of the
comm ssioners will have an opportunity if you
want to to ask M. Peterson any questions that
you want to. But the initial lead on that wll
be by Conm ssioner Bartlett, who is prepared to
do that.

Then after we're done with M. Peterson
Superintendent Runcie will be here, and then
Sheriff Israel. And what |'ve told both of
themis, is that they'll have an opportunity to

make any openi ng comment that they want to
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make, limted to about ten mnutes, and their
total tinme here though, because we have to keep
this on schedule, and we're not going to turn
this into a four or five hour marathon, is, is
they will be here for ninety mnutes, so

what ever questions you have | suggest that you
start thinking about those, and preparing those
now, because they'l|l have about ten mnutes to
answer, to make an opening statenent if they
want to, and each of them and I'mgoing to
hold it to it, ninety mnutes, and at the
ninety mnute mark they're done.

So you need to nmake sure that the
guestions that you're asking are, again,
probative questions relevant to the topics,
relative to the things we're investigating, and
keep it on track. And then at the end of the
ninety mnutes, but, and we will rotate it
around the conm ssion so that there is a fair
opportunity for everybody to ask questions, but
| just ask you to start thinking about now any
guestions you have for the superintendent, or
for the sheriff. And the sane thing tonorrow
nmorning with Chief Parry. Chief Parry wll

have t he sane opportunity for ninety m nutes,
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and about a ten m nute opening.

So does anybody have any questions or
concerns on that as the way forward for today?
Ser geant Suess, go ahead.

CONTI NUATI ON OF PRESENTATI ON LAW ENFORCEMENT
RESPONSE

SGT. SUESS: Thank you, Sheriff. So to do
a quick reset on where we left off yesterday, a
very brief summary, approximately thirty
seconds prior to this point N kolas Cruz fled
the west end of Building 12. There were eight
deputies on the MSD canpus, or in inmmediate
proximty. Oficer Burton and Medi na were
driving, I'"'msorry, Oficer Burton and Andrew
Medi na were driving north on the east side of
Building 8 in the direction of Building 12, and
Captain Jordan and Lieutenant DeVita were
driving south on Pine Island Road preparing to
pull into the adm nistration parking |ot.

Secretary Kapusta, do provide you an
answer to the question you asked yesterday, and
| want to be sure | had the right informtion,
but the time at which Deputy Peterson
transmtted shots were fired over the BSO radio

was 2:23.26. Deputy Kratz was the first other
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deputy on scene. That was at 2:24.35, one

m nute and ni ne seconds later. |Is that the
answer you were | ooking, or the information you
wer e | ooking for?

SEC. KAPUSTA: Yes.

SGT. SUESS: kay. Yes, ma'am So again
we're at six mnutes and fifty-four seconds
after the first shots were fired. M.

G eenl eaf and Assistant Principal Mrford have
run into the north end of Building 1, and they
woul d shortly thereafter proceed into the
camera room Seven mnutes and one second
after the first shot Lieutenant O Neill, who is
a Lieutenant in the BSO North Lauderdal e
District directed that crine suppression team
deputies set up for an active shooter response
upon their arrival. Lieutenant O Neill had
expl ai ned that he had been at the District
office earlier, and directed those deputies to
start going to the MSD canpus.

Four seconds | ater Captain Jordan and
Li eutenant DeVita were seen on video running
fromthe vehicle towards the east side of
Building 1. So again | direct you to the map

of canpus, of Building 1. This wll becone
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very relevant here in the next several slides.
So on the top right corner you see two red
boxes which identify doors at Building 1.
There's a canera inside there. So just the
door at the top right, so on the east side of
the Building 1 is the door through which
Captai n Jordan and Lieutenant DeVita would
enter.

Seconds | ater Deputy Marchese, who has
arrived in the general area of Deputy Kratz
north of the football/soccer field, transmts
that he has the gunshot victim and by the
entrance to Westgl ades M ddl e School. There's
every indication that this victimwas Kyle
Laman. Sergeant Heinrich would have still been
with him and Deputy Kratz is sonmewhere in this
general area, but there's likely a little bit
of di stance between Deputies Kratz and
Mar chese.

In reviewing this transm ssion, this is
per haps over analysis, it calls us to wonder if
by Deputy Marchese saying the gunshot victimit
may have |l ed others to believe that there was
only one potentially. It's sonething worth

consi deri ng.

Veritext Legal Solutions
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Deputy Marchese said that he | eft Heron
Hei ghts El enentary where he was the SRO upon
hearing radio traffic about the shots being
fired. He approached Hol nberg, or approached
t he canmpus on Hol nberg fromthe west. Deputy
Mar chese did not hear gunshots. He encountered
Kyl e Laman and Sergeant Heinrich noving west,
and escorted them south toward the basebal
field, and softball field. He spoke of
encountering radio problens while trying to
call for fire rescue. You'll see a clip of
that later on a body cam where Deputy Marchese
i s expressing his frustration.

He provided security for Kyle Laman and
Sergeant Heinrich, and fire rescue as they were
treating Kyle Laman. He renmai ned present on
the west end of canpus, and heard radio traffic
about Cruz noving toward the west. He
expressed a concern for the safety of the fire
rescue personnel, Kyle Laman, and Sergeant
Heinrich, in anticipation if Cruz continued
west then he could encounter Cruz if need be.
Deputy Marchese stated he did not attend his
nost recent session of in-service training due

to being sick, and he could not recall the | ast
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time he attended active shooter training.

Seven m nutes and twel ve seconds | ater
O ficer Fernandez was driving north on Pine
| sl and Road approachi ng Hol nberg Road, based
off his GPS. | believe | failed to nmention
this earlier, so the GPS records provided by
Coral Springs and BSO, there's always a slight
margin of error in GPS coordinates. The
refresh rate also plays into that. So it's not
constantly nonitoring sonebody's | ocation,
it's, the refresh rate determ nes on how
frequently you see where that individual is, so
it may be twenty seconds, it may be a mnute,
it may be five mnutes. So that's sonething to
consi der.

We al so sort of tenpered our eval uation,
or our consideration of the GPS records, as we
know sonme of themto be inaccurate. For
exanple, Oficer Wittington's GPS showed t hat
he was beneath the Sawgrass Expressway for an
extended period of tinme, however at the sane
time OFficer Whittington is inside Building 12,
as seen on video. So we did not rely very
heavily on the GPS records.

O ficer Fernandez said that upon seeing
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three deputies on the east end of Hol nberg Road
he asked them are you breachi ng, neani ng j ust
entering the canmpus, entering the gate, and
they said, no. He responded, well, we're
breaching. These deputies were |ikely Sergeant
M Il er and Deputy Seward and Hanks.

At approximtely seven mnutes fifteen
seconds after the first shot Assistant
Principal Morford entered the canera room and
Kel vin Greenl eaf evacuated students who had
previously been sheltering in that room
Eventually they would go on to provide Deputy
Pet erson, Assistant Principal Porter, with
i nformati on over the school radi o about what
they saw on the video. They would remain in
that roomfor approximately thirty m nutes,
unti|l |aw enforcenent approached the canera
room Sinmultaneously Nikolas Cruz was fl eeing
south on the west end of canpus by the tennis
courts.

O ficer Burton provided the description of
t he suspect.

CHAIR  Senat or Book, go ahead.

SEN. BOOK: So technically they're in, in

the canera room they could see an individua
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runni ng al one al ong that sidewal k.

SGI. SUESS:. They had the ability. Now,
both nyself and Detective Scott from Broward
Sheriff's Ofice have becone extrenely famliar
with their DVR system which is a good system
it appears to be. W've dealt with a |ot of
them This one was fairly easy to use. There
are dozens of caneras on canpus, and it's very
difficult to review all of themat any single
nonment, so W thout having an idea of where the
suspect is they wouldn't know where to | ook, so
it's basically you' ve got to go through each
canera. |It's a needle in a haystack situation.

SEN. BOOK: So it's not |ike, you know, at
nmy house, where you have |ike twenty screen,
like twenty little --

SGI. SUESS: It is, but nore caneras than
that. And again, you're trying -- they don't
know where Cruz is at that point necessarily.
They know he was at Building 12 at sone point.
| presune that that's the first camera they
woul d have tried to review not having know edge
he's already fled, and well on the other side
of canmpus. So w thout having the proper

I nformati on, you know, ny personal assessnent,
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| don't fault themfor not being able to find
himat that very nonent.

SEN. BOOK: And you'll cover sort of the
guestion that we tal ked about yesterday about
t he del ay?

SGT. SUESS:. Absolutely.

SEN. BOOK: Thank you.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, ma' am

CHAIR. And they would have had to bring
up different caneras, |ike you just said, and
that's inportant, is, is you have a wall of
screens, but not every canera is on that wall
so you have to click and bring up different
canmeras. And so |ike Sergeant Suess said he
woul d assune that they mght, but that's an
assunption, and they're walking into that room
so they don't have access, it's just not a wall
where you can just | ook at the whole nyriad of
every canera that's avail abl e and say, okay,
I'"'mgoing to | ook at one, two, you got to bring
t hem up, and you got to click on themto bring
t hem up, correct?

SGI. SUESS: Right. Yes, sir.

CHAIR Right. Right. So while we're

stopped here, and go back, just -- just because

Veritext Legal Solutions
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this is going to cone back again, |ook at,
cause you passed over it, you know, this is --
this does cone back to that issue about those
deputies that are up there on Hol nberg, and if
you go back to 263, even Oficer Fernandez --
and those deputies again, were Sergeant M|l er,
Seward, and Hanks. Those are the ones that,
that we saw all those green dots in the
animation, they are up there on Hol nberg, and
Sergeant M| ler doesn't nove, and that's going
to be sonmething that is, we need to refer |
believe to Sheriff Israel for further inquiry
as to what that situation was, because he
didn't transmt. He was the first supervisor
on the scene that -- so that is not
I nsignificant, that Fernandez from Coral
Springs gets there, bypasses them are you
breachi ng, they said no, because they're still
standi ng on Hol nberg Road, and Ser geant
Fernandez then breaches, so that is, that's
significant. Al right, go ahead.

SGI. SUESS: And this is the transm ssion
by O ficer Burton.

(Thereupon, the following radio transm ssion is

pl ayed in the open neeting.)
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SPEAKER: 39 white nale, ROTC uniform

DI SPATCH:  White mal e, ROTC uniform

SPEAKER:  Burgundy shirt.

DI SPATCH.  Burgundy shirt.

(Thereupon, the radio transm ssion concl uded, and
t he proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

SGT. SUESS: So again Coral Springs has a
pretty significant leg up at this point. They
have an accurate description of the suspect.
This information has not yet been nade
avai |l abl e to BSO deputi es.

Shortly thereafter over BSOs main radio
channel this transm ssion takes place between
several deputies.

(Thereupon, the followng radio transmssion is
pl ayed in the open neeting.)

SPEAKER: W don't know, but we're
entering the building, going in the 13
buil di ng, Building 13, 17 -- nyself --

SPEAKER. Does anybody have bolt cutters
so | can get this kid out of the fence? He's
stuck in the fence. | need bolt cutters.

SPEAKER: The coach is with him see if he
can hel p himover the gate.

(Thereupon, the radio transm ssion concluded, and
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t he proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

SGT. SUESS: So again, deputies, depending
on who made this transm ssion, it's not exactly
clear, I"'mconfident it's Deputy Perry, he
woul d have been, probably made it just through
the west gate in the student parking | ot at
this point. Deputy Marchese and Deputy Kratz,
again, are north of the athletic field on
Hol nber g Road.

SEC. KAPUSTA: | have a question.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, mm'am

SEC. KAPUSTA: How did Burton know the
description? Were did he get that?

SGI. SUESS: Medina. From Andrew Medi na.
And if you think about Andrew Medina -- there
are sonme students and teachers that saw Cruz
I nside Building 12, but | nean they're being
shot at so their descriptions aren't that
accurate, understandably. Andrew Medina is
really the only person at that point that knows
what the suspect | ooks |ike. Deputy Peterson
doesn't even know at that point.

So seven mnutes and thirty-one seconds,
you see on the golf cart Andrew Medina drives

north on the east side of Building 8 with
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O ficer Burton riding in the passenger seat.
Medi na woul d drop Burton off in that genera
area, and he would |l ater nove onto a tree.
Again, Cruz is still continuing south on the
west side of canpus.

Now, on the image on the bottomleft you
see the light pole. You can just barely see,
It | ooks |like Deputy Peterson's hand, and arm
and feet sticking beyond that.

MR SCHACHTER:  Sergeant.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

MR. SCHACHTER: Can you tell nme what, what
time Deputy Burton arrived on canpus?

SGI. SUESS: Oficer Burton, it would have
been at that transm ssion we covered yesterday
where he says he's on canpus the first tine, he
acknow edged it was a little early. Of the
top of ny head | can't tell you, but we can
research that.

SHER. ASHLEY: | just want to go back to
the | ast comment before that where you said
Deputy Peterson did not know at that point who
the, what -- Medina drove himto Building 12.
Did he not describe who went in the building

during that time?
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SGT. SUESS: | don't know to what extent
he did. And again, you' ve been in the
prof essi on nuch | onger than | have, having
t hese people recall exactly what they said
during that short period of tinme, there's going
to be conflicting statenents. W could
re-evaluate their, both of their, well
Medina's interview, and see what he said he
tol d Peterson exactly.

SHER. ASHLEY: 1'd just be curious. |
mean he saw -- he's the one that called the
hal | nonitor and said, hey, you got this kid
comng in, a suspicious kid. I'm-- 1I'm
wondering if he gave a description of who that
kid was or what he wearing to the hall nonitor
and then he goes to get Deputy Peterson, did he
give a description of who they were | ooking for
at that point?

SGI. SUESS: Of the top of nmy head |
don't recall, Sheriff Ashley, but I'll take a
| ook at Medina's interview and see what he says
he told Peterson. Yes, sir.

CHAIR M. Schachter, if you | ook at the
tinmeline that Sergeant Suess provided, and just

refer to that, 2:26.54 is when Burton said that
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he was on the scene, so the answer is in that
docunent that you have.

MR. SCHACHTER: | nean that's -- that's
pretty -- that's alot -- that's a | ong ago.
It's five mnutes ago. Do we know why he
didn't enter the building?

SGI. SUESS: I'msorry, M. Schachter.

MR. SCHACHTER: Do we -- Oficer Burton
was there in two mnutes. Do we know why he
did not enter the building?

SGT. SUESS: Oficer -- we're going to
cover Oficer Burton's statenent here in just a
m nut e.

MR. SCHACHTER: Ckay. GCkay, thank you.

SGI. SUESS. Yes, sir. So this is a lay
of the land. 2:29.09 you see Cruz is in
between the tennis courts and Building 9. The
ei ght deputies, their approxi mte |ocation, and
then O ficer Burton and Andrew Medi na just on
the northeast corner of Building 8, as Deputy
Peterson remains south of the east side of
Bui | di ng 12.

So this is Oficer Burton's vantage point
essentially fromthe tree, the location in

whi ch he took cover. Turning around, so again
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that tree is, if you' re putting yourself in
that position, this is turning to the

sout heast, so turning to O ficer Burton's |eft.
So that is the direction fromwhich he arrived
on the golf cart with Andrew Medi na, turning
slightly to the right, just giving you

addi tional views of what he was able to see at
that tine.

So you see the hallway there, that is
where Deputy Peterson would have been | ocat ed,
and the position that woul d have afforded t hem
the opportunity to communi cate wi th one anot her
just by shouting, not, not over the radio.
Again, this large chain Iink fence was not
there on February 14th.

At seven mnutes thirty-ei ght seconds
O ficer Burton nmakes this transm ssion over the
CSPD r adi o.

(Thereupon, the followng radio transmssion is
pl ayed in the open neeting.)

SPEAKER: Juliet39, last seen in the three
story building north parking |ot.

DI SPATCH  10-4, | ast seen three story
building in the north parking | ot.

(Thereupon, the radio transm ssion concluded, and
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t he proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

SGT. SUESS: Again, inreview-- in
interviewing nultiple Coral Springs officers
several of themidentified this transm ssion
was the only reason they knew where to go.
Many of the officers had never been to MSD
They -- they had never been there. They had no
| dea where any buil di ng was.

Shortly thereafter, based on GPS records,
O ficer Harrison arrives in the general area
next to deputies Marchese and Kratz, and
O ficer Fernandez is seen on Pine Island Road
near Hol nberg Road. You see the note there,
the shortest tine to refresh on GPS, the GPS
records for Coral Springs is thirty seconds.

Seven mnutes and fifty-two seconds after
the first shot Peterson could be seen making
hand gestures in the direction of Oficer
Burton's location. | apologize, that's a type.
O ficer Burton works for Coral Springs Police
Departnment. O ficer Burton said in his
interview that Peterson had his firearm drawn,
and he was | ooki ng east and west. Deputy
Peterson told O ficer Burton that the shooter

may be in the parking lot. Oficer Burton
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stated, quote, | felt it was ny job to |ock
that, referring to the parking |lot, down, | was
trying to prevent sone type of anbush, or if
the suspect wanted to try to escape, if he was
hiding in the parking lot I'd be right there.

So again, we referenced it earlier, the
parking lots present a unique tactical
chall enge in responding to any significant
event, certainly an active shooter. It
provi des anpl e opportunities for people to hide
or be conceal ed, or of course potentially for
vehicles to be used as a weapon.

Seven mnutes and fifty-five seconds after
the first shot Detective Gool sby transmts that
a command post needs to be set up on the south
side of the Sawgrass Expressway. He identifies
that the gate for the student entrance is
unl ocked, and directs additional units to get
onto canpus to try and | ocate the shooter.
Seven mnutes and fifty-seven, fifty-six
seconds after the first shot, you'll see a
vi deo here of Deputy Eason. He begi ns speaking
Wi th sone civilians on the baseball field. At
that tinme N kolas Cruz was approaching the

group of students, and would shortly thereafter
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bl end into the group.
(Thereupon, the following video is played in the
open neeting.)
SPEAKER:  You heard all those gunshots?
They were probably, sounded |like a doz, at
| east a dozen, at least. That's only when |

got here.

(Ther eupon, the video concluded, and the proceedi ngs

continue as follows:)

SGT. SUESS: And you'll see in the map on
the bottomright corner of the slide Deputy
Eason's approxi mate | ocation. Seven m nutes
and fifty-seven seconds after the first shot
Kel vin Greenleaf |et Captain Jordan and
Li eutenant DeVita into the east doors of
Building 1. Captain Jordan can be seen on
vi deo mani pul ating her radi o, and hol di ng her
cell phone up to her ear. Lieutenant DeVita
exited Building 1 to retrieve his vest and
rifle, and you woul d see Captain Jordan nove
back and forth between the north and east doors
of Building 1.

You'll see video here shortly that shows
Captain Jordan's novenent. Again |I'd direct

you to the map of Building 1. So you see
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there's a dotted |ine going between those two
doors. That's essentially the path of trave
you' Il see Captain Jordan nmake repeatedly.

So we conducted an interview with Captain
Jordan. As far as her experience, twenty years
with the Fort Lauderdal e Police Departnent, and
five years with the Broward County Sheriff's
Ofice. She had a very brief stint wth an
agency in Colorado as well in between these two
agencies. Captain Jordan stated in her
interview that radi os were spotty on any given
day in Parkland, particularly once you got
cl oser to the Everglades. She said the m ni mum
staffing in Parkland is four deputies and one
sergeant. During the day you would al so have
detectives, and possibly other deputies
assigned to work, to focus on traffic rel ated
| Ssues.

MR. SCHACHTER: When you say that radios
were spotty on any given day, and we've heard
that several tinmes, does that nean they're not
able to transmt, does that nean there's
throttling? Can you be nore specific?

SGT. SUESS: The throttling termI|' m not

exactly sure on. Well, I've heard the phrase
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used. I'mnot a radio expert by any neans.

But what | can tell you is there are tines, and
| don't think it's unique to this area, and
|'ve worked for other agencies, but sonetines
there's just areas where you don't get good
reception. | would have to defer to a radio
expert on the why. | really don't know.

On February 14th Captain Jordan said that
Deputy Kratz had been assigned to work traffic,
and that schools typically have radio
transm ssion issues. |In ny person experience,
Detecti ve Bonasoro was an SRO, we've all been
to schools, I'msure many of the conm ssioners,
often times schools do not get good radio
reception on your, on the | aw enforcenent
radio. They just don't work. [It's
frustrating, and it presents an officer safety
chall enge as well. So that's sonmething to
consi der.

Li eutenant DeVita, according to Captain
Jordan, notified her of the shooting, and drove
her to canpus. She said that she attenpted to
coordi nate a response while driving to canpus,
but she was not able to use her radio. She

heard radio traffic about different |ocations,
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such as the football field and the north
parking lot. Upon arrival to the school she
sai d she began hearing the throttling noise.

Once she arrived she believed that the
shooti ng had stopped due to there being no
additional radio traffic about shots begin
fired. She was concerned if she noved further
onto canpus it mght make the radi o problem
even worse. She had no recollection of using
her cell phone, and when | pointed out to her
t hat we had watched the video, we know she was
on her cell phone -- and let ne clarify, |
don't think she was being deceptive. It's --
even for | aw enforcenent officers it's not
unusual to not renenber certain things in a
hi gh stress environnment. So we pointed out to
her that she had used her cell phone. She
specul ated that she was likely trying to
contact Sergeant M| ler.

Staff in the front office told her that
the shooting was inside Building 12. So this
is a video, and you'll see again on that nap,
of Building 1. In the northeast corner of that
buil ding there's a canera, so this is the

perspective which we have. |1'I|l play the video
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for you, there's no audio, and you'll see
Captain Jordan's novenent. It is at tines
agai n sped up, just otherwise this would be a

fairly | engthy video.

(Thereupon, the video is played in the open neeting,

and the proceedings continue as follows:)

SGI. SUESS: That's Lieutenant DeVita and
Captain Jordan. The gentlenen -- |'msorry,
sir?

SHER. ASHLEY: |Is the Captain off-duty at
that tine?

SGI. SUESS: No, sir. No, sir, she was at
the office. She was on duty that day. | think
she's wearing |i ke an agency pol o and sone BDU
type pants. Andrew Medina just cane in there
in shorts. So at this point Captain Jordan has
| eft Building 1.

CHAIR  Okay, John, hold on a second.

Just for context, just keep in mnd as you're
heari ng about all these statenents that Captain
Jordan nakes, or anybody el se, is that
initially after the event there were interviews
that were done by BSO in the crimnal case.
They were your traditional typical tell nme what

happened type interviews. They weren't probing
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type interviews froman investigative
standpoint as to what people did or didn't do,
of this nature that we're doi ng now.

The only other interviews that have been
done of all of these people of the nature that
we ask questions, and we sat down with Captain
Jordan, and we spent sone tine with her, and we
went through all this, the only other interview
was by FDLE' s Ofice of Executive
| nvestigati ons under the governor's executive
order, and none of the results of those
I ntervi ews have been di sclosed to anybody.

They haven't been disclosed to the Broward
County Sheriff's Ofice, to the School Board,
to the Coral Springs Police Departnent, to
anybody.

So what you're seeing now, and what you're
hearing about now, the Broward County Sheriff's
Ofice, Coral Springs Police Departnent, and
the Broward County School Board has not heard
before. So when you think about asking Sheriff
| srael, or Superintendent Runcie, or Chief
Parry, well, what about these statenents,
they're unaware of this until after we present

It to you, and then we will, as | said, present
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it to them

So they did not do this type of interview,
or this type of inquiry, this type of
i nvestigation. They don't have the know edge
that you all have now. | think it's inportant
that you keep that in mnd so you understand
the context, that these were the first probing
i nterviews, and none of these interviews have
been produced, released publicly, anybody
provi de any know edge about, other than to what
you' re seeing right now today at this m nute.
So it's inportant to keep that in context |
think, is you understand, so if you get sone
guestions this afternoon, and tonorrow norning
fromChief Parry, this afternoon fromthe
superi ntendent and the sheriff, if they say |
don't know, |'ve never heard that before,
they're telling you the truth, because they
don't know what you know now, and what we have

known, okay?

So | just want to put, make sure that
we're all, we all understand that, because
you' re probably going to get a lot of -- sone

-- sonme of these statenents that, that Captain

Jordan made to us, and Sheriff Israel is
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unawar e of this.

MR. SCHACHTER: Do we -- when you -- when
you asked her, you know, why she didn't go
towards the building, why she stayed in the
office for so |long, what, what, how did she
respond, and what is the protocol, was she
trying to run the scene fromthere?

SGI. SUESS. So, yes, sir, we covered sone
of those issues with her, and | believe we'll
have additional statenents from Captain Jordan
in the presentation.

CHAIR Let it unfold, John, there's nore
in there onit. Let's just -- | think the
guestions -- then if they're not answered then
then l et them but there, there's nore in here
from her.

SGI. SUESS: So at eight m nutes and nine
seconds after the first shot Cruz has reached
t he group of students fleeing, and bl ended into
the crowmd. He continued to travel west wth
students, and ultimately nearby to the Wal nart.
Shortly thereafter over the Coral Springs radio
channel di spatch advi sed three people had been
shot inside of room 1216 in the freshman

bui | di ng.
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MR. SCHACHTER: And they knew that how?

SGI. SUESS: I'm-- through the 911 calls
that Coral Springs had.

Shortly thereafter Deputy Chief Backer
initiated a SWAT call out for Coral Springs
Police Departnent. At eight mnutes and forty-
two seconds these are the approximte |ocations
of Oficers Harrison, WIKkins, Dougherty,

Fer nandez, and Wiittington. So this is an
estimated tinme at which Sergeant Mers,

Sergeant Mazzei, Detective Mdnzon, and O ficer
Wl kins arrived on Hol nberg Road. This is one
of those instances, we have no footage of them
arriving on Hol nberg Road, but we know where
they end up, so it's an estimation of how | ong,
you know, to put your car in park, get out, if
you want to retrieve your rifle, run south. So
that's where this estimated tinme conmes from

Sergeant Myers stated upon his arrival he
saw several people unlocking the west gate.
This in all likelihood is Detective Gool shy and
Deputy Perry. Sergeant Myers said he ran
t hrough the gate, not paying attention to what
t hose deputies did, and he was unable to

descri be their appearance. So at this tinme --
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again these |ocations are approxi mati on. As
you see a |lot of the dots have been |ined up.
That's nerely so it's nore | egible and not as
confusing to read. These are the approxi mate
| ocations of officers and deputies at 2:30. 30.
Ni ne mi nutes and two seconds after the
first shot over the Coral Springs radio
Det ective Monzon stated he was on the north
side of the scene by Building 13 with two BSO
deputies, and about to nove forward. The
possi ble identities of these deputies are
Gool shby, Perry, Hanks, or Vol pe. |Imediately
thereafter Deputy Kratz makes this transni ssion

over the BSO radi o.

(Thereupon, the followng radio transmssion is

pl ayed in the open neeting.)

SPEAKER: If you can hook up with Coral
Springs dispatch, |I was advised by one of their
of ficers possibly three additional victins in
the three story building, possible suspect with
an ROTC uniform |If we can hook up with them
and verify -- Coral Springs supervisor, advise.

SPEAKER: He says al so three additional.

(Thereupon, the radio transm ssion concl uded, and

t he proceedi ngs continue as follows:)
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SGI. SUESS: So at nine mnutes and fifty-
two seconds after the first shot the first
transm ssi on by a BSO supervi sor or
adm ni strator fromthe Parkland District is
made.

(Thereupon, the followng radio transm ssion is
pl ayed in the open neeting.)

SPEAKER: 17Si erral.

DI SPATCH 17Sierral.

SPEAKER: | know there's | ots going on.
Do we have a perineter set up right now, and
everybody is clearing out of the school?

DI SPATCH. That's negati ve.

(Thereupon, the radio transm ssion concl uded, and

t he proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

SGT. SUESS: So at this point Captain
Jordan was inside, or in the inmedi ate area of
Building 1. So again that, that video played
for a few mnutes, we're stepping sort of back
to the beginning of that video when she woul d
have made this transm ssion.

CHAIR Wiat tinme did Sergeant M| er
arrive, do you know off --

SGI. SUESS: Not off the top of ny head,
Sheriff, but Detective Lyons is going to get
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that tinme for you.

CHAIR  And then -- and then -- again, is
you're at nine mnutes and fifty-two seconds,
remenber fromall this previous video, and you
saw fromthat previous slide, go back to this
one, we're going to cone back, you're going to
see video of MIler and what was going on at
Hol nberg Road. Go back to that previous slide
in 293 and, and MIller, Seward and Hanks
sitting up there, and the Coral Springs --
they're sitting up there. Mller is the
sergeant. He's the Parkland sergeant that's on
duty, and there's no transm ssion, and the
first transm ssion from any supervi sor,

I ncluding MIller, who had been on scene for

m nutes and m nutes, and mnutes, the first
transm ssion is not until 2:21.30, which is
nine mnutes and fifty-two seconds, alnost ten
m nutes into the event.

Mller didn't transmt the whole tine that
all of this is happening, and he was the
supervi sor on scene, so that's, you know, again
- - | keep comng back to it but, and you're
going to see in this video, but these are

| nportant points of what the investigation has
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reveal ed.

SHER. ASHLEY: That was Slide 2637

CHAIR  Correct. And when you go -- and
you go back to -- that's the one that up there
on the screen now.

MR, SCHACHTER: 290, 63 --

CHAIR Wat is --

SHER. ASHLEY: He said 93, but it's 63.

CHAIR  Sixty-three. [|'msorry 260, yeah,
It -- it's the one -- it's the one that's up on
board now.

SHER. ASHLEY: [It's 90, 293.

CHAIR Two -- two -- it is 293.

SHER. ASHLEY: Go on to 263, and at
2:28.50, or seven mnutes twel ve seconds in,
where he says it's like that Sergeant M| er,
Deputy Seward, and Hank --

SGI. SUESS: GCkay. | think Sheriff Ashley
Is identifying the tinme in which MIler
arrived, and Sheriff Gualtieri, you were
referring to --

CHAIR kay. kay, go ahead. And what
time was that, Sheriff?

SHER. ASHLEY: 2:28.50, or seven m nutes

and twel ve seconds.
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CHAIR Right, so he's the first
supervisor. So he's sitting up there, you
know, at that point, and again there's no --
and he doesn't transmt yet for a while. So
the first supervisor is Jordan, but Mller is
al ready on scene, and you'll see when Ml er
first transmts, and the first thing MIler
does | believe is call for K-9, or helicopters.

SGI. SUESS: | believe so.

CHAIR And you can see that. So again --
but he's sitting up there, and you'll see on
vi deo, you'll see deputies passing himwhile
he's sitting by his car. And you'll see that
when the video cones up.

MR PETTY: Question.

CHAIR Go ahead, M. Petty.

MR. PETTY: | can't renenber if we've
talked to, if we've tal ked about an interview
with MIler or not yet. Ws he having radio
t roubl e?

SGI. SUESS: He did reference radio
troubl e, you know, so the whole throttling
| ssue, there's no, there's no tinme stanp.
There's no way we can identify and say at this

second the throttling began. Based off
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reviewing the radio traffic there's no

I ndi cation there's radio problens at the tine
at which he's arrived. | don't -- | don't
think there's that nmany people on the channe
at that point to create a problem

MR SCHACHTER: And -- and for a
supervi sor or adm nistrator arriving what woul d
be the protocol?

SGI. SUESS: In active -- well, so the
extrenely significant point to renenber is that
he hears gunshots, contrary to a | ot of these
ot her people arriving, so regardl ess of rank,
you know, if, if myself and the Under Sheriff
are com ng back fromlunch and we respond to an
active shooter I'mconfident he's going to say
the fact that |I'm Under Sheriff doesn't renove
my ability, or ny need, ny conpulsion to go
into that building. So rank sort of goes out
t he wi ndow at that point, you need to be going
I n towards the gunshots.

MR, SCHACHTER  Ckay.

SGT. SUESS: So at nine mnutes and fifty-
ei ght seconds after the first shot Sergeant
Foti over the Coral Springs radio channel

requested that the BSO helicopter respond.

800-726-7007

Veritext Legal Solutions

305-376-8800



© 00 N o o~ wWw N

N N N N N N P B P PP R R R R
a A W N BB O © 0O N O 0o~ W N+, O

Page 43

MR. PETTY: Sergeant, another --
apol ogi es. Anot her questi on.

SGT. SUESS:. Yes, sir.

MR. PETTY. Is -- is this protocol for
requesting the helicopter at this point?
Shoul d this have been done earlier? Do you
have any thoughts or comments on that?

SGI. SUESS:. | think -- this is ny
opi nion, and of course | defer to the persons
W th much nore experience in | aw enforcenent
than nyself, but it's not an unreasonabl e
request at this point. Again, Coral Springs,
while we're ten mnutes after the first shot
we' re maybe six mnutes since Coral Springs has
been made aware, so in ny opinion | don't think
that the timng is unreasonable.

CHAIR Go ahead, Sheriff Judd.

SHER. JUDD: In ny organization the first
911 call would have, would have, woul d have
tripped the helicopter. That would have been
an initial response unit, just |like patrol.

MR. PETTY: It would have been hel pful in
directing traffic, and officers, and --

SHER. JUDD: Well, you know, you get in

the area, you see a bunch of ants running
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around, at least if there had been an active
shoot er novi ng around you coul d have seen that.
But there's a standard response when -- when we
get a call like that it's Iike flipping the
switch on, patrol responds, air responds, our
drone units respond, you know, | nean there's a
whol e team that when that call comes across the
radi o no one else has to order anything, it's
com ng.

MR PETTY:. It's automatic.

SHER. JUDD: Automati c.

SGI. SUESS: Ten mnutes and one second
after the first shot Deputy Peterson says that
we are supposed, in supposed | ockdown right
now, nobody is |eaving the school, everybody
knows it's a lockdown. So this is in response
to Captain Jordan's transm ssion about
evacuating students fromthe school.

Ten m nutes and nine seconds after the
first shot Oficer Burton transmts over the
Coral Springs radio that he's on the east part
of the three story building in the parking | ot
with his Iong gun. An unknown deputy at that
point transmts that we mght want to consi der

sonmebody up on the Sawgrass to the south side
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of the school. D spatch says I'll get soneone.
This is the transm ssion to which Deputy

St ambaugh woul d | ater respond, and | eave his

| ocati on on Hol nberg Road.

Ten m nutes and el even seconds after the
first shot Deputy G eethamarrived in the bus
| oop on the sout heast corner of canpus. He
exited his vehicle and slung his rifle.

Approxi mately four Coral Springs vehicles and
| aw enforcenent notorcycle were present. He
went into the trunk of his vehicle and put on
his vest, and told another deputy to wait with
hi m as he was doing that.

Deputy G eetham spent one m nute and seven
seconds unslinging his rifle, renmoving his body
cam and ot her equi pnent, putting on his vest,
reattachi ng the body cam and again slinging

his rifle. And you'll see the video of that.

(Thereupon, the following video is played in the

open neeting.)
SPEAKER: Hey -- in here.
SPEAKER: All right. You want to hang
wth me for a second? Let nme get dressed.
Just watch your hide. They said sonething

about a three story building.

800-726-7007

Veritext Legal Solutions

305-376-8800



© 00 N o o~ wWw N

N N N N N N P B P PP R R R R
a A W N BB O © 0O N O 0o~ W N+, O

(Ther eupon, the radio transm ssion concl uded, and

Page 46

t he proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

CHAIR  See, you don't get to not show up
for work dressed and say wait and hang with ne
while | get dressed. Now, there's no gunshots,
and Cruz is gone, but they didn't know that at
this point. And if you're going to show up for
work you need to act. Go ahead.

SHER. JUDD: Did -- did he have a vest on
under that? Was that a rifle vest, or did he
have a regul ar patrol vest?

SGI. SUESS: That's a fair question,
Sheriff, and to be honest that's sonething that
hadn't crossed ny mind up to this point.
believe, this is based purely off ny nenory,
that Deputy G eetham was working an of f-duty
detail at that point.

SHER. JUDD: | just know a | ot of our
deputi es wear vests all day, and then they have
arifle vest.

SGI. SUESS. Yes, sir.

CHAIR  Go ahead.

SHER JUDD: And in regards to -- and |
guess | can ask Sheriff Israel, do they have

ballistic shields, helnets, as a regular piece
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of equipnment, or is it SWAT only?

SGT. SUESS: Right. | think Sheriff
Israel will be better equi pped to answer that.
We -- we never see ballistic shields on, on any
f oot age.

SHER. JUDD: Thank you.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

CHAIR Go ahead, Senator.

SEN. BOOK: Thank you. And |I'mnot |aw
enforcenent, so this is just pure -- would it
appear -- it would appear that there's no a
trenmendous sense of urgency. Yes, you show up,
and if you show up not dressed you go, you
don't get dressed, you dress while you, you
dress while you run, but also it just doesn't
appear to be trenendously rapid --

CHAIR  You'll see nore of that. You'l
see nore video of that.

SEN. BOOK: |Is that comon? |Is that not,
in your, the | aw enforcenent officers in the
room | nean --

CHAIR 1'd say it depends on the
ci rcunstances, you know.

SHER. JUDD: It -- it would be ny

experience that there's a, there's an attenpt
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not to show a lot of enotion in these. It
doesn't give excuse for the slowness of the
act, but not a lot of enption is going to be
shown in any of them attenpts at calm

SGI. SUESS: Ten mnutes and twel ve
seconds after the first shot -- and as a
rem nder that video was approxinmately a mnute
|l ong so we're stepping back at a little tine in
the chronology. So fromthat canera on the
nort hwest corner of Building 13, | pointed out
to you earlier this is the one where
essentially grown adults |look |like ants, so you
see a group of law enforcenment officers. You
can't specifically identify who they are, which
agency they are from based solely on the
vi deo, however in all likelihood this is
Sergeant Mazzei, Sergeant Myers, Detective
Monzon, O ficer WIlkins and Oficer Harrison,
all of Coral Springs Police Departnent, and
Deputy Vol pe, Deputy Gool sby, or Detective
CGool sby, and Deputy Hanks.

Ten m nutes and ni neteen seconds after the
first shot Deputy Yurchuck arrived on the south
side of the MsSD canpus. He followed a group of

unatt ended students who was novi ng west towards
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West gl ades M ddl e. Deputy Yurchuck expl ai ned
his concern is if the shooter had attenpted to
go after this crowd of students they were
hel pl ess.

Then m nutes and twenty-two seconds after
the first shot Captain Gallagher tells everyone
over the Coral Springs channel that the
bui l ding they're looking for is the three story
bui | ding on the northeast corner of campus. At
ten mnutes and thirty seconds after the first
shot, this is when Deputy Eason asks the SRO
Deputy India do you have West gl ades | ocked
down, and Deputy Stanbaugh then says that he
will go to the Sawgrass Expressway on the south
si de of school.

So well | ook at Deputy Stanbaugh's
response at this point. As those officers are
runni ng south towards Building 12 Deputy
St anbaugh gets back into his vehicle. He had
been on the north side of his vehicle the
entire tine. He gets into his vehicle and
drives west on Hol nberg Road. You're going to
see in this video, and we've tried to identify
some of the |l aw enforcenent officers with the

red dots noving south towards Building 12, and
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the yellow circle represent, and you'll see
Deputy Stanbaugh's vehicle driving west on
Hol nber g Road.

(Thereupon, the video is played in the open neeting,

and the proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

SGI. SUESS: This is the route that Deputy
St anbaugh travel ed, west on Hol nberg Road,
south on Coral R dge Drive, east on the
Sawgr ass Expressway to, | believe that's
Uni versity, off the top of ny head, then he had
to make a U-turn. Now, he was -- there is no
off-ranp, no exit ranp at Pine Island and
Sawgrass so he couldn't have exited there. He
traveled 3.8 mles, and that took him
approximately five mnutes and thirty seconds.

MR. SCHACHTER: Sergeant.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

MR. SCHACHTER: Do the cars have any kind
of nonitoring devices on themto tell us any
i ndi cati on of speed of travel, or anything like
t hat ?

SGI. SUESS: | do not know. | don't know
if their GPS does. | know nost in-car canera
systens have that ability as far as their GPS,

and -- actually | don't think Stanbaugh has
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GPS, so | don't think there would be a
mechani sm

CHAIR:  Sheriff Ashl ey.

SHER. ASHLEY: Just thinking, did any of
the deputies or police officers say they had
been to this high school prior to this call?

SGT. SUESS: Sone of them had, yes, sir.

SHER. ASHLEY: Do we know how nany?

SGI. SUESS: No. | couldn't give you a
nunber, no, sir. And there were certain ones
t hat we asked because it was of significant
rel evance. But, you know, it's worth saying
that several of them had from both agenci es.
The -- | was very surprised the nunber of |aw
enforcenent officers who had kids inside this
school, and even inside Building 12 on the day
of the shooting was also pretty shocking, so
some of them had a great deal of famliarity.

SHER. ASHLEY: Thank you.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

MR. SCHACHTER: In the training do they
ever train at the high school s?

SGI. SUESS: | don't know about all their
training. | know sone agencies do. | know

Coral Springs, we recently interviewed Chief
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Pusti zzi, who said that Coral Springs had
actually trained at Stoneman Dougl as a coupl e
of years ago. It's not uncomon for |aw

enforcenent to do that as, as practice though.

M5. LARKIN SKINNER: Do you know the -- it
| ooks like a green nedian, like it mght be
grass. Is that a ditch that divides the two

directions, the lanes? |Is it sonething that

coul d have been crossed by a vehicle, or no?

SGI. SUESS:. | could not give you a direct
answer, ma'am |'msorry.
MR, SCHACHTER: It's -- it's a nedian.

There is grass there, but yes, they could
cross. There are deputies that | do see on, on
top of the nedian at sonetines, | think.

CHAIR  Senat or Book, go ahead.

SEN. BOOK: Thank you through the Chair.
At what point do they call a | ockdown on
West gl ades M ddl e and the el ementary school s
that are across the street adjacent, not
knowi ng where this active shooter was when does
t hat happen?

SGT. SUESS: | couldn't give you a tine.
| recall, again hundreds of interviews rattling

around in ny head, but | believe Deputy India,
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whil e he was at training, the SRO for
West gl ades upon learning called the principa

at Westglades and told himthey needed to go on
| ockdown.

SEN. BOOK: But at no point in tinme was
there a systemw de, there is an active shooter
here, everyone within X anmount of mles are on
| ockdown. The el enentary schools, we don't
know i f they were contacted, or --

SGI. SUESS: | -- | know a | ot of schools
in that area went on | ockdown. Now, whet her
there's a nechani smthrough the schools, | am
unawar e of any. Detective Bonasoro, did you
cone across that?

DET. BONASORO. |I'msorry, what was the
questi on?

SGT. SUESS: D d you cone across any
mechani sm by which the schools would notify
ot her schools in the event of a code red?

DET. BONASORO. No. No.

SGI. SUESS: And within | aw enforcenent
it's incunbent upon, you know, if there was an
SRO t here he would have heard the radio
traffic, he would have been on the sane channe

as Deputy Peterson, so that deputy woul d have
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heard it.

So ten mnutes and forty-four seconds
after the first shot Sergeants Mazzei and Mers
from Coral Springs Police Departnent |ed the
response to the west side of Building 12.
Sergeant Myers, the gentlenman in the back,
provi ded a quote during his interview with us.
| made the decision to go in wth nmy handgun.
| have an AR-

And a rifle in ny trunk. The decision to
go into nmy trunk and unsecure the AR-15 in ny
m nd woul d take too long. | felt |ike every
second mattered, and | nmade the consci ous
decision to run in with ny handgun instead of
armng nyself with the rifle, knowng full well
that the rifle was one thousand tinmes better
than the handgun. | had to nmake the deci sion
t hat seconds mattered.

So at this point, these are the
approxi mate | ocation --

CHAIR Secretary Carroll, do you have --

MR. CARROLL: Where was he from was
that --

SGI. SUESS. He's a sergeant with the
Coral Springs Police Departnent. He's in their

Veritext Legal Solutions
800-726-7007 305-376-8800



© 00 N o o~ wWw N

N N N N N N P B P PP R R R R
a A W N BB O © 0O N O 0o~ W N+, O

Page 55

| nvestigations bureau, or division, and part of
t heir SWAT team

These are the approxi mate | ocations of the
of ficers and deputies on canpus. At tend
mnutes and fifty-three seconds after the first
shot O ficer Burton broadcasted that the
suspect was dressed in an ROTC uniformwth
bl ack pants and a burgundy shirt. So this is
the first radio transm ssion by Sergeant
Mller, eleven mnutes and four seconds after
the first shot. He asked to get the helicopter
in the air, and also get sone K-9s to his
| ocation. Sheriff Ashley, Detective Lyons
found the information about Medina, and the
quote was, the only conversation | had with
Peterson was the description of the kid. So
presumably, yes, Deputy Peterson --

SHER. ASHLEY: So he did give hima
descri pti on.

SGI. SUESS: |'msorry?

SHER. ASHLEY: So he did give hima
descri ption.

SGI. SUESS: Based off Andrew Medina's
statenent, yes, sir. Yes, sir.

At el even m nutes and four seconds, so
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this is sinultaneous to that prior slide, the
first | aw enforcenent responders enter through
Bui | ding 12, Sergeants Myers and Mazzei,
Detective Monzon, and O ficer WIkins. They
encounter M. Hixon, is still noving at that
poi nt, but was unable to communi cate. As |
referenced earlier in the animtion we're going
to start referring to these groups, so this is
the Mazzei group. Sergeant Mazzei, nore or
| ess between he and Sergeant Myers, led this
group for the first initial response we'll say.

I[t's inportant to note again due to the
limted canera coverage nust of the response on
the west side of Building 12 was not on video.
As an exanpl e, Detective Mnzon was the second
person inside Building 12, but does not appear
on any exterior video. Deputes Hanks, Vol pe,
and Gool shy, as well as O ficer Harrison, were
I mmedi ately behind those first officers that
entered the building.

ASA BARTLETT: | have a question, M.
Chai r man.

CHAIR  Comm ssioner Bartlett, go ahead.

ASA BARTLETT: Just out of curiosity, back

at seven m nute sixteen seconds, and it's Slide
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265, Coral Springs says that -- | think it was
that one. |I'msorry, make -- check -- scratch
that. 289, Coral Springs radio main channel,
di spatch advi sed three people shot in room 1216
in freshman building. So that's our building,
but they don't breach it until now. How do
they get that information back then at eight
m nutes and twenty-si x seconds?

SGI. SUESS: That woul d have been fromthe
911 calls going into the Coral Springs cal
center.

ASA BARTLETT: Ckay.

SEN. BOOK: Can | ask --

CHAI R Senat or Book.

SEN. BOCOK: So | understand, when you say
that they encounter Coach Hi xon, did -- and I'm
trying to just put all the different parts
together in ny mnd. Wuld they al so have seen
Coach Feis, or -- they did. So they -- they
can see the things like in that back, |ike that
back area?

SGI. SUESS: Yes, mn'am That area
bet ween Buil dings 12 and 13, it's very open.
You know, when we went there there's a bunch of

fences up, and it obscures your view. Prior to
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this, or at this nonent it's, it's very open,
you' ve got a good range of vision. There was
I mredi ately, and I, and we'll get to it |
bel i eve, but people imediately go to Coach
Feis and assess him Special Agent Massucci,
he's going to get a little nore into the

nmedi cal response, but, yes, na'am Coach Feis
was Vi si bl e, and eval uat ed.

SEN. BOOK: Thank you.

SEN. BOCOK: Yes, ma' am

CHAIR  They passed hi m because they
I mredi ately determ ned he was deceased, and
then they went in, and then they pulled Coach
Hi xon out, put himon the golf cart, and
| mredi ately cane out. So they bypassed him and
went in and pulled H xon out. M. Petty, you
had a question?

MR. PETTY: That was the --

CHAIR  Sheriff Ashley.

SHER. ASHLEY: Just for clarification can
you tell me, us, how far Hol nberg Road is from
Building 12? |Is that a hundred yards, |ess
than a hundred yards?

SGI. SUESS:. | think approximtely a

hundred yards woul d be pretty accurate. It's a
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hundred and twenty fromthe east end of
Building 12 to Pine Island. Holnberg is a
little closer, so | think a hundred is probably
a fair estimte.

SHER. ASHLEY: So all the deputies and
of ficers on Hol nberg and cl oser, other than
vehi cl es they have no visual obstruction to
Bui I ding 12.

SGT. SUESS: Again the only thing | would
point to in the map as msleading in this
sense, but if we put too nuch on the map then
it beconmes junbled, but there are quite a,
guite a good nunber of |arge trees, and again,
the parking lot is full of cars.

SHER. ASHLEY: (Ckay.

SGI. SUESS: There is the six foot fence.
And | don't believe at that portion of the
fence at that tine that they had these banners
that Deputy Kratz woul d have encountered by the
football field, but we can re-evaluate sone
f oot age and --

CHAIR  There's -- there's no structures,
If that's your question. There's no
structures. The only thing woul d have been

trees and cars, and there was nothing on the
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fences at that tine.

SHER. ASHLEY: Thank you.

SGT. SUESS:. Yes, sir. So again a
rem nder for the approxi mte range of coverage
on February 14th. So we're going to go through
a few of these deputies and officers, and their
response. So Deputy Hanks, | referred to him
earlier. W're going to go through his
response. You can see he responded westbound,
west bound on Hol nberg, exited his vehicle. He
woul d run past Sergeant M|l er and Deputy
Seward, and then south on canmpus and to
Bui | di ng 12.

Deputy Hanks did not have a body canera,
due to being on the Parkland budget. He
arrived on Hol nberg Road, did not hear
gunshots. He saw Sergeant MIler west of him
on Hol nberg Road. He heard radio transm ssions
about shots being fired, or injuries near the
football field. He had no know edge of the
bui | di ng nunbers. He exited his vehicle and
t ook cover for a few seconds to get his
bearings. Shortly, alnost inmediately
thereafter he was joined by an unknown Cor al

Springs officer behind his vehicle.
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Deputy Hanks ran west on Hol nberg Road
past Sergeant MIller, who was at his car.

Wiile arriving at Sergeant MIler's |ocation he
saw about five officers and a deputy running
towards canpus. Presunably these individuals
are Sergeants Myers and Mazzei, Detective
Monzon, Officer Wl kins, Oficer Harrison, al
from CSPD, and Deputy Vol pe.

Deputy Vol pe arrived on Hol nberg Road. He
al so woul d have passed Sergeant M|l er and
Deputy Stanbaugh, and then parked near the west
gate. He exited his vehicle and ran south to
the west doors of Building 12. Deputy Vol pe
additionally did not have a body canera. He
did not hear gunshots. And he parked near the
west entrance, west gate. He briefly took
cover, and then followed a group of officers
and deputies toward Building 12. He descri bed
seeing Deputy Perry in the parking |lot north of
Bui l di ngs 12 and 13 doi ng an over-wat ch.

O ficer Harrison, a notorcycle officer,
and he was sonmewhat easier to identify in that
canmera on Building 13. Mdtorcycle officers with
Coral Springs wear a white shirt, so obviously

t hat stands out from sone of the other
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I ndi vidual s on canpus. But he arrived fromthe
west on Hol nberg Road, parked in the, near the
west end of the athletic field, got off his
notorcycl e and ran east, and then went through
t he west gate.

Oficer Harrison stated he saw an
unidentified deputy stopping traffic. W
believe this to be Deputy Kratz. Ran east
al ong the road, and saw anot her unidentified
deputy getting his rifle fromhis trunk. He
continued through the west gate, and then south
with other officers. And again this would have
been Myers, Mazzei, Monzon, WIkins, and
Deputi es Hanks and Vol pe. Upon reaching the
west doors he escorted a femal e who was
evacuated fromBuilding 12. Again we're noving
ahead in the chronol ogy, but we'll get back to
t hat shortly.

O ficer Harrison took a position on the
east side of Building 13 covering the second
and third floors. So a lot of these officers
and deputies tell us as they're respondi ng they
see the bullet holes on the west end of the
third floor of Building 12, which it's a safe

conclusion at that point that that would

Veritext Legal Solutions
800-726-7007 305-376-8800



© 00 N o o~ wWw N

N N N N N N P B P PP R R R R
a A W N BB O © 0O N O 0o~ W N+, O

Page 63

present a risk to respondi ng officers.

Approxi mately el even m nutes and ni ne
seconds after the first shot, and this is five
seconds earlier when the Mazzei group entered
Buil ding 12, you see four additional |aw
enforcenment officers wal king north on the east
side of Buildings 1 and 8. One of them appears
to be Sergeant Kozlowski. He's largely
I dentifiable, his position at the agency, he
actually wears shorts with his uniform so he
stands out a little nore than other officers
and deputies. He stated that as he noved north
he was directing officers in pairs to take
positions at various points of egress in the
event that the shooter tried to flee canpus.

El even m nutes and si xteen seconds after
the first shot Captain Jordan begins to
transmt, and is notified by Detective Gonzal ez
that nmultiple SWAT units are responding to the
scene. Captain Jordan would have still been
inside, or in the imrediate area of Building 1
at this point. And again, we've been at this
presentation for several hours between the two
days, we're at slide 326, just to drive hone

t he point el even m nutes have passed since the
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first shot, so | just again want to make t hat
cl ear.

Captain Jordan follows up with a radio
transm ssi on.

(Thereupon, the following radio transm ssion is
pl ayed in the open neeting.)

SPEAKER: 17Sierral, | want to make sure
that we have perineters set up, and the school
-- all the kids are getting out, so we need, we
need to shut down around this school -- have a
pl ace where we're setting up for all the units
comng to the area.

DI SPATCH: 10-4. They're advising that
t he school is on lock --

(Ther eupon, the radio transm ssion concl uded, and
t he proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

SGT. SUESS: So in subsequent
transm ssions Sergeant M| ler states that they
do not have a conmand post set up, we have a
perinmeter around him and two units, or two
teans going in to check right now. Captain
Jordan acknowl edges that, and asks which way
they're going into the school. Sergeant Ml er
says they're entering fromthe north side

t hrough the parking | ot where the students
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park. A deputy whom we believe to be Perry
says we, we've got a teamthat entered the 900
buil ding on the first floor, west side of the
900 bui I di ng.

So at this point, approxi mately twelve
m nutes and one second after the first shot,
Deputy Greetham and a Coral Springs officer
approached the sout heast corner of Building 1.
They woul d encounter Andrew Medi na, and he
would remain there with them for an extended
period of tinme.

M5. LARKIN SKINNER: Sergeant Mller's
statenent that a perinmeter is around him that
doesn't seemtrue to ne, but I'ma, a lay
person, SO --

SGI. SUESS: No, ma'am |'m-- | couldn't
gi ve you a good reason as to why he said that
at that point.

CHAIR  Sheriff Ashley.

SHER. ASHLEY: On the previous slide, so
Captain Jordan is saying we're, kids are
evacuating, and then they're saying, no, we're
on | ockdown, so is there confusion there, or
did you find confusion in there, whether they

t hought they were evacuating or whether they
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t hought they were on | ockdown?

SGI. SUESS. | -- potentially there may
have, Captain Jordan may have not been cl ear on
what the appropriate response was, whether it
was to evacuate students or to | ock them down.
That -- and that -- honestly that's a
concl usi on based off of these radio
transm ssi ons.

CHAIR.  Comm ssi oner Schachter, go ahead.

MR. SCHACHTER: Is -- is she talking,
because | think I renenber Peterson saying that
they were on | ockdown; is that correct?

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

MR. SCHACHTER: And then when Perry is
sayi ng about the 900 building is he just
confused?

SGT. SUESS: Yeah, | believe so, yes, sir.
And he said in his interview he thought that
the 1200 building used to be called the 900
building. | don't knowif that -- we confirned
that with Principal Thonpson, it's always been
the 1200 building. | don't know if the fact
that the 1200 building is also referred to as
the freshman building, 9th grade, if there's

sone confusion there, maybe, | don't know.
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CHAIR  You tal k about | ockdown, there
were hundreds of kids, literally hundreds,
maybe nore, that were fleeing to the west, so
you had, maybe sone people were | ocking down in
sonme places, and there were, but you had a
whol e bunch that were fleeing and evacuating at
the same tinme, so to say the whole school is on
| ockdown is not correct, but to say that people
had | ocked down was correct, so had both of the
si tuations going on.

SHER. ASHLEY: |'mjust -- yes, sir. And
| agree. | just was trying to determne if
Captai n Jordan knew of the two different
procedures, or standard operating procedures
for dealing wth an evacuation versus a | ock
down.

CHAIR  Yeah, well, and you'll see nore of
that | think as you get into it, and nore who
had sonme observations, and you'll see sone
comrents that others nmade regardi ng Captain
Jordan later in the presentation.

ASA BARTLETT: | nean | think in
transm ssions Peterson says to, that it's in
the 1200 sl ash 900 building, and that's
probably where they're picking up the 900

800-726-7007

Veritext Legal Solutions

305-376-8800



© 00 N o o~ wWw N

N N N N N N P B P PP R R R R
a A W N BB O © 0O N O 0o~ W N+, O

Page 68

bui | di ng.

CHAIR  You're correct, yeah, that's --
good point.

ASA BARTLETT: So that's -- right.

CHAI R Senat or Book.

SEN. BOOK: Yes. And | know we've tal ked
about this at length, but in the FSSAT one of
the things that they ask is has everything been
upl oaded, like wth the maps and everyt hi ng.
Agai n, how i nportant those things are for
people to be trained on those things, | nean |
think we, we tal ked about the nost inportant
pi ece of information that, you know, cut
through a lot of the noise, was the |argest
three story building, that's the pl ace.

CHAIR  You know, and a | ot of agencies,
and | don't know, and, John, you can answer
this if you know, is, is that -- and | believe
Coral Springs does, |I'mjust not sure about
BSO and maybe to sonme degree they do, is that
i n nost agency's CADs, the conputer aided
di spatch system is nost of the CADs are
prel oaded with what we call pre-plans, or
di agrans of mmjor structures within the

agency's service area, so as an exanple is that
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wth aclick of a button, is that all the
deputies can pull up the maps of all the
school s, they can pull up all the arenas, they
can pull up all the high vulnerability targets,
nobi | e hone parks even, and different, and so,
you know, a | ot of agencies, | wouldn't maybe
go as far as to say nost, but a | ot have that
in their CAD system so that sonebody who is
respondi ng, or when you're on scene, you can
click the pre-plan because it's connected to
the address and it's bringing up those nmaps.

So that's another way that that is often
acconpl i shed, so that you have ready access to
current maps. | don't know, and that's
sonething -- do you know?

SGI. SUESS. Sheriff CGualtieri, yes, sir,
it's -- through the interviews it |ooks |ike
bot h BSO and Coral Springs have access to
school s on their in car conputers.

CHAIR Go ahead.

SHER. ASHLEY: Just for the conm ssion's
sake, we do a lot of this, but if God forbid we
had an active shooter in here today half of
this group could not direct |aw enforcenent to

where we're at right now, and whether we don't
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know whet her we're on the north side of the
bui I ding, or the east, or the west, or whether
we cone in through the VIP, I nmean you just go
down the |ist, and nost people cannot tell you
how to direct help to thensel ves.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir. And that's
sonet hi ng we' ve eval uated, and Chief Lystad,
|"'msorry to throw you under the bus, we had a
di scussi on yesterday about, |'m sure every | aw
enforcenent officer has experienced this, when
you respond to an apartnent conplex, or a
school, and you have an address or a buil ding
nunber, but it's on a placard, you know, one
f oot square, you, you have no idea where you're
going. And that's happened to all of us dozens
of times probably, and it is, it delays your
response. So it's sonething to consider
potentially as a recomendati on about naking
school buildings clearly identifiable for the
first responders.

MR. SCHACHTER: And -- and | think that
that is a | essons | earned after Col unbi ne,
after Sandy Hook, after all these nassive
school shootings, is that they nunber all the

bui | di ngs, nunber all the roons, and make sure
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that | aw enforcenent is on the sane page, and
that they know, and that they train in the

school, and so, you know, so there's not this

mass conf usi on. It does not ook |like that was
done here.
CHAI R It's in the recommendati ons we' ||

tal k about on Fri day.

SGI. SUESS:. Sheriff Ashl ey, Special Agent
Massucci reviewed Peterson's interview of BSQO
and he acknow edges getting a description from
Andrew Medi na on what Cruz was weari ng.

SHER. ASHLEY: But we don't know that he
ever broadcast that.

SGI. SUESS: No, sir, correct.

CHAIR It's not -- it's not that we don't
know t hat he ever broadcast that, he did not
broadcast it.

SHER. ASHLEY: Did not broadcast it.

CHAIR. Commi ssi oner Dodd, did you have --

MR. DODD: Yeah, | just had a question as
far as the tineline goes with the bel
schedule. What tinme again does school disn ss
at Stoneman - -

SGI. SUESS: 2:40.

MR. DODD: At 2:40, so right now we're
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still, the dismssal bell hasn't gone. But we
| ook back at the 2:29 mark and Cruz is | eaving
in the group of students, fleeing students
that's headi ng towards the nearby WAl mart, so
there was a | arge nunber of students that were
exiting the canpus, and yet there were stil
sonme students that were going back into the

| ockdown, correct?

SGI. SUESS: Yes, sir.

MR. DODD: Ckay. And so -- and then
Captai n Jordan di scusses, or nentions all the
kids are getting out. M/ question is was there
an alarm- - when did that alarmget -- when
did the al arm stop?

SGT. SUESS: The fire alarnf

MR. DODD: Yeah, the fire alarm do we --

SGT. SUESS: W -- Detective Lyons, he'l
-- Chris, if you would just reviewthe
chronol ogy and identify that tine please.

MR DODD: Was -- was that -- were we
al ready past the, the alarm had al ready been
cut off at the 2:33 mark, or el even m nutes
after?

SGI. SUESS: |I'maquite certain it has, but

we'll get you a definitive answer.
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MR DODD: It's -- okay.

CHAIR. Go ahead, John.

SGI. SUESS: So twelve mnutes and five
seconds after the first shot Detective Mnzon
and O ficer WIlkins pull M. H xon towards the
west doors on the first floor. So it's been
twel ve minutes and five seconds since the first
shots were fired when the first wounded victim
I s evacuated fromBuilding 12. Oficers and
deputi es worked together to load M. Hi xon onto
the rear of a golf cart.

Seconds | ater officers approached Oficer
Burton's location on the north side of Building
8 fromthe east. These individuals include
Sergeant Kozl owski and O ficer Best. Twelve
m nutes and thirty-three seconds after the
first shot Oficer Burton, |I'msorry, Oficer
Best runs sout hwest towards Deputy Peterson's
| ocation. O ficer Burton asks Deputy Peterson,
hey, brother, what do we got, Deputy Peterson
responds shots fired, the shooter is on the
second or third floor. Oficer Burton yelled
this to Sergeant Kozl owski. Sergeant Kozl owski
said he did not hear this.

| want to point out that does not |ead us
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to believe that Oficer Best is lying. | think
it's safe to assune just because Sergeant

Kozl owski didn't nean it, or didn't hear it, it
doesn't mean Oficer Best didn't say it.

So you see the inmage of Sergeant Kozl owski
wal king north in the general direction of
O ficer Burton, and Oficer Best running south
towards Deputy Peterson. Twelve m nutes and
forty seconds after the first shot Lieutenant
O Neill transmts that he's going to set up a
stagi ng area beneath the Sawgrass Expressway.
Sergeant MIler identifies that there's a park
south of that, but he is pinned in where the
cars are, and is unable to nove fromhis
| ocation. Captain Jordan directs that units
stage on the south side of the Sawgrass, and
that we will nove in fromthe south. She
directs all units to set up there.

After pulling M. Hixon out of the west
doors from out of the west doors, Detective
Monzon from Coral Springs returns inside
Bui l di ng 12, and Deputy Hanks follows him
I nside. Deputy Hanks is the first Broward
Sheriff's Ofice deputy to enter Building 12.

It's a mnute and forty-five seconds after
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Coral Springs entered. | do want to reiterate
again that there were several deputies just
outsi de of that door, and they were assisting
officers with M. H xon and Coach Feis.

Thirteen m nutes and ni ne seconds after
the first shot Captain Brad Mock arrived on the
north side of Building 8 near Oficer Burton
and Sergeant Kozl owski. Captain Mock is the
SWAT commander for Coral Springs PD. 1'll go
ahead and point this out now So Captain Mck
was pretty easy to identify. He's wearing a
white shirt. He was in plain clothes that day,
but had put on a tactical vest.

So inthe first reviews of this video,
obvi ously | know who none of these people are,
whi ch agency the work for, it was very evident,
particularly inside Building 12, that Captain
Mock essentially was running that, was running
the show, he was directing that group, and so
you will see as this progresses the Mck group
forms, and he's integral in working with BSOto
coordi nate the response.

At approximately 2:35 Oficers
Whittington, Dittman, Carval ho, and Fernandez,

have all arrived on Hol nberg Road and
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approached the east gate. The gate was | ocked,
but OFficer Whittington kept bolt cutters in
his car, and used those to unl ock the gate.
These officers noved south toward the east side
of Building 12. Deputies Carbocci and Johnson
arrived sonetinmes around this sanme tine. And
again this estimate tine of 2:35, we don't have
video of themarriving, but we know at what
time they get to Building 12, so it's just
estimating how nmuch tinme it would take themto
get there.

So this is the gate. This is what we
refer to as the east gate. |It's just
happenst ance, obviously this photo was taken
after the shooting, that there's a, a BSO car
there. But this is east gate through which
Oficer Wi ttington woul d have cut the | ock,
and officers noved south. This map illustrates
their approxi mate path of travel.

Oficer Wiittington stated that upon his
arrival he saw deputies taking cover on the
north side of their cars. One of themwas a
sergeant, who it is safe to say was Sergeant
MIller. He saw two deputies, Oficer

Whittington stated that one of these deputies
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may have been Deputy Van Der Eens, who then
qui ckly foll owed Coral Springs inside. W do
know t hat Deputy Van Der Eens was on the, sort
of the initial wave of response on the east
side of Building 12.

Oficer Wittington is one of those
officers who commented on O ficer Burton, about
his radio transm ssion being the only way he
knew where to go. Thirteen m nutes and
twenty-five seconds after the first shot over
the BSO radi o the dispatcher states that they
received information from Coral Springs that
the shooter is on the north side of the parking
lot. They don't have a description of the
suspect, but said this call was made
approximately three to five mnutes earlier.

Thirteen mnutes and thirty seconds after
the first shot Deputy Hanks entered the first
floor office, and he was foll owed by Detective
Monzon. They | ocated an uni njured adult
femal e, and evacuated her. She was turned over
to O ficer Harrison, who escorted her to the
northwest. O ficer Harrison later returned to
the east side of Building 13. So Oficer

Harri son would take up a position -- | think
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it's too bright. But he would go to the east
side of Building 13 and again cover the second
and third floors with his rifle.

One of the comm ssioners asked earlier,
and Detective Lyons |ocated, so the fire alarns
began shutting down at 2:22.57, so only a
m nute and ni neteen seconds after the first
shot, Comm ssioner Petty. | believe that was
you, sir. That's on Slide 108.

Thirteen mnutes and forty seconds after
the first shot Oficer Schmdt transmts over
the Coral Springs radio that BSO had a team
enter the first floor. Over approximately the
next one and a half mnutes there would be
additional transm ssions from Deputy Chief
Parry of Coral Springs, and Captain Mck of
Coral Springs, trying to determ ne whet her BSO
has entered Building 12. This was, was Captain
Mock was on the east side of Building 12, and
it likely caused a slight delay in entering
Building 12 in an attenpt to avoid a friendly
fire situation

At thirteen mnutes and forty nine seconds
after the first shot Oficer WIkins and Deputy

Vol pe drive M. Hi xon north on a golf cart
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toward Hol nberg Road, and | ater turned him over
to energency nedi cal personnel at the triage
area. Shortly thereafter Deputy Chief Backer
was seen on the body canera of a deputy near
the bus | oop on the southeast corner of canpus.
Deputy Chief's Backer and Parry, along with
Capt ai n Soberon, would have arrived shortly
before this point.

So ininterviews with Captain Soberon he
stated that he arrived on Pine Island Road with
Deputy Chi efs Backer and Parry, all of the
Coral Springs Police Departnent. Wen they
advanced towards Building 1, the Deputy Chiefs
that is, he renmained on Pine Island Road trying
to locate, and would eventually go on to
establish command operations. Captain Soberon
stated he asked a BSO Lieutenant where the
command post was | ocated, but he did not know.

Approxi mately fourteen m nutes and twenty-
two seconds after the first shot about ei ghteen
| aw enforcenent officers fromthe south and
north woul d converge on the east doors of
Buil ding 12, and they would filter inside the
bui |l di ng over the next two mnutes. It's

I mportant to note that even after this takes
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pl ace Deputy Peterson remains on the northeast
corner of Building 7.

This group included approximately fourteen
Coral Springs officers, included Captains Mck
and Gal | agher, and approxi mately four BSO
deputies. This is the group we will refer to
as the Mock group. So on this slide you see at
this tinme the approximte |ocation of both the
Mazzei and Mock group. Both groups are
conprised of Coral Springs officers and BSO
deputies. At this point it is still very nuch
a predom nantly Coral Springs dom nant
response, which can in ny opinion be largely
attributed to proximty.

Fourteen m nutes and twenty-ei ght seconds
after the first shot within Deputy G eethanm s
group there was discussion about whether they
shoul d advance or hold their position. An
uni dentified person says, on the body canera,
Is there no active shooting going on, and that
SWAT is on their way, so there is no need for
themto rush in. Deputy Greetham stated he's
bunker ed sonmewher e.

Fourteen m nutes and twenty-ei ght seconds

after the first shot Lieutenant O Neill as he's
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responding to the scene directs respondi ng
units to shut down northbound traffic on Coral
Springs Drive, and that will be used as a
staging area. So again |I'd like to rem nd you
sort of these |l essons |earned fromthe Fort

Lauderdal e Airport shooting, was the staging

i ssue, so Lieutenant O Neill very much focuses
on that, and you will see sone of his actions
shortly.

Fourteen mnutes and thirty-two seconds
after the first shot Sergeant Mazzei waves his
hand towards the east after realizing officers
and deputies were entering the east doors.

This was the first of potentially multiple
friendly fire situations. Sergeant Mizzei said
that he told the Mock group that they would
nove to the second floor, and then the Mck
group woul d continue to search the first floor.

Fourteen m nutes and thirty-nine seconds
after the first shot Detective Johnson fromthe
Broward Sheriff's O fice, his body cam began
recording as he was getting his rifle and thigh
hol ster. | want to point out it appears
Det ective Johnson was in a plain clothes unit,

so the delay on his part to gather his
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equipnent | think is nore, nore readily, and
nore easily explained than perhaps sone patrol
officers and deputies. Wile |leaving his car
he sees a subject who by all accounts appears
to be Sergeant M| ler standing north of his
vehi cl e on Hol nberg Road. You'll see that

i mage shortly.

Fourteen mnutes and fifty-four seconds
after the first shot Lieutenant McCoy, so he's
t he SWAT executive officer, the nunber two in
command of the SWAT team at that point, tells
Captain Jordan that the entire teamis com ng
towards the canpus. Captain Jordan at this
point was inside, or in the i mredi ate area of
Bui I ding 1.

Fifteen m nutes and ei ght seconds after
the first shot, this is the inmge from
Detective Johnson's body cam w th Sergeant
M Il er standing behind his vehicle. Again, the
still image, it's difficult to see, but in
wat ching the video it is very clearly a
sergeant, and all evidence indicates it's
Sergeant MIller. Four seconds |ater Detective
Johnson conti nued south on, I'msorry, from

Hol nberg Road t hrough the east gate.
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He was foll owed by Detective Val des. They
met up with Deputies Carbocci and Seward on the
east side of Building 12, and all went on to
join the Mock group. Four seconds after that
Li eutenant DeVita ran toward the nain gates in
between Buildings 1 and 8, and let nmultiple | aw
enforcenment officers, and including Sergeants
DeRosa and Detective Schroy. This group
advanced west onto canpus, and went on to check
on students inside the auditorium Building 8.

Fifteen mnutes and thirty-seven seconds
after the first shot the Mazzei group began to
advance up the west stairwell toward the second
floor. This included eight Coral Springs
of ficers and Deputy Hanks. This is the point
I n which Captain Jordan exited Building 1. She
went out the east doors, and went to the
adm ni stration parking lot. She spent seven
m nutes and thirty-six seconds inside Building
1.

So approximately fifteen m nutes and
fifty- five seconds after the first shot
Captain Gall agher was directing Deputy Seward
on the east side of Building 12 to start using

his radi o on the BSO channels to start securing
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ot her buil dings on canpus. Two subjects,
presumably Deputy Peterson and O ficer Best,
coul d be seen standing in between Buildings 7
and 8. You could hear a BSO radio throttling
several times at this point.

Si xteen m nutes and four seconds after the
first shot Captain Jordan neets up with
Sergeant Sklar in the adm nistration parking
| ot just east of Buildings 1 and 8. So Captain
Jordan stated that she left Building 1 due to
hearing informati on about the shooting taking
place at Building 12 and the football field,
and additional traffic about the north parking
lot. She attenpted to use Sergeant Sklar's
portable and in-car radios, but they would not
wor k. Captain Jordan directed Sergeant Skl ar
to take her to the north side of canpus, and he
did so. Sergeant Sklar corroborated Captain
Jordan's statenents about the attenpts to use
his radio, and the fact that they were not
oper ati ng.

Captai n Jordan stated that she saw
vehi cl es on Hol nberg Road, but could not recal
seeing any officers or deputies. So this is an

| age of the Mock group as they have nmade it in
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t he east doors of Building 12 and have begun to
approach the alcove for C assroons 1216 and
1217. Oficer Carvalho fromSC is standi ng at
t he doorway to 1218.

At sixteen mnutes and thirty-three
seconds after the first shot Lieutenant O Neil
arrived beneath the Sawgrass Expressway. So if
you renenber fromvery early on that inmage that
I dentified the staging area beneath the
Sawgr ass Expressway at Pine |sland Road, or
Coral Springs Drive. Lieutenant O Neill was
the shift commander for the North Lauderdal e
District at that tinme. He was the first BSO
supervisor to transmt on 8Al pha when he
directed the crine suppression team and not or
units to respond. You'll see sone of his
transm ssions that he nade as he was respondi ng
to the scene.

Li eutenant O Neill would go on to work
feverishly to clear Pine Island Road of
vehi cl es, and keep parents south of the
Sawgr ass Expressway. In an interview with
Li eutenant O Neill he said fromhis perspective
that the focus of operations appeared to be on

victimrescue, and not the active killer
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response. He heard radio traffic about a
command post being north of the MSD canpus. He
recal | ed hearing Captain Jordan over the radio,
and he assuned that she woul d be the incident
commander due to this occurring within her
district.

He described the initial command structure
as being ineffective and, quote, not engaged
with the problem end quote. He said Captain
Jordan appeared to have a, quote, dreaniike,
end quote, nature to her speech. He heard
mul ti ple deputies on the radio i medi ately, but
they were focused on the problemimediately in
front of themand not the cause of the problem

CHAI R  Senat or Book.

SEN. BOOK: Thank you, M. Chair. When
you -- when he says dreamli ke nature to her
speech, |ike what, what does that nean? Wat
did you interpret that to nmean, like --

SGI. SUESS: So the -- | believe another
phrase he used was trance |i ke perhaps, and
it's just again, he was referencing the idea,
he did not think that she was responding to the
actual problemat hand. She -- | think the not

engaged with the problemis a pretty accurate
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description of what | perceived Lieutenant
O Neill to nean.

SEN. BOOK: Thank you.

SGI. SUESS: Yes, ma'am Lieutenant
O Neill went on to say that they had | earned
fromthe airport shooting staging, staging,
staging, and identified that the critical
I ncident will end very soon. Lieutenant
O Neill said that he was trying to prevent
sel f-di spatchi ng and over congestion of the
scene. It was not clear to himexactly where
t he command post was | ocated. He said that he
went on to work with other agencies to
coordinate the reunification of students and
parents.

He descri bed a Coconut Creek captain as
bei ng heavily involved. This likely was just a
m snoner, and a reference to Deputy Chief Lees
froma Coconut Creek Police Departnment, and you
wi || hear nore about himshortly.

MR. SCHACHTER: Can -- can you el aborate
on Lieutenant O Neill's comment that the at the
ai rport shooting they | earned staging, staging,
stagi ng? Does that nean that you, you wait and

you stage before you go in?
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SGI. SUESS. So again it's very, as we
were tal king about wth Senator Book's question
yesterday the response is usually very fl uid.
The -- the main driving force in an active
shooter response -- and let nme say |I'mnot an
active shooter response expert, | could tel
you anyt hing about this case really, but as far
as tactics, as far as what | know ny
responsibility to be, if you hear gunshots you
go to the gunshots. Wen they stop if you
don't know where the shooter is you're going to
sl ow down. So you absolutely have to get to
the scene as soon as possible, but at sone
poi nt there reaches a, there does reach a point
where there are too many cooks in the kitchen,
so to speak, and if there are too many officers
or deputies there that presents chall enges on
its own as wel .

We're going to go through sone nore
statenents by Lieutenant O Neill, and show sone
i mages, and |'m sure the comm ssion wll cone
to their concl usions.

MR. SCHACHTER: Can you just give ne a
definition of staging; what does that nean?

SGI. SUESS. So essentially, getting back
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to that point, you don't want too many people
there at any one point, so once as the incident
conmmander you have enough resources addressing
the imedi ate threat, then you're going to have
some ot her areas park, or stage, or just wait.
It's sort of like a | obby, basically wait in
the | obby until we need you, and then we'll

call you in.

MR. SCHACHTER: Thank you.

M5. LARKIN SKINNER: Can you tell ne what
a crime suppression teamis?

SGI. SUESS: Yes, ma'am So as best | can
tell it appears to, and | got different
descriptions fromdifferent people, but it
appears to be auxiliary training that sone
detectives receive, and they have a pretty
fluid role within the agency, for exanple |
think in Parkland one of the sergeants
explained that if there's a narcotics issue
they'll go address that. |If there's, you know,
there's a burglary spree happeni ng overni ght,
they may go work overni ght and address that.

They wear nore tactical type clothes, so
they may to other people |look |ike a SWAT t eam

nmenber, and they drive unnarked vehicles, is ny

800-726-7007

Veritext Legal Solutions

305-376-8800



© 00 N o o~ wWw N

N N N N N N P B P PP R R R R
a A W N BB O © 0O N O 0o~ W N+, O

Page 90

understanding. |'msure Sheriff Israel could
probably give you a very detailed --

CHAIR It sounds like a street crines
unit, sone people would call it that.

SGT. SUESS: More or less, yes, sir.

CHAIR. So everybody, it's a utility --
everybody's got them and everybody calls them
sonething different, but it's just people you
use to deal with problens in essence.

M5. LARKIN SKINNER: So it's like a
mul ti pur pose team

CHAIR Yes. Right.

SHER. JUDD: You relieve them from
answering calls for service, and you track your
data, and the data says this is a hot spot, and
this is the kind of crines that are perneating
the area, and these folks conme in wth that
data based upon intelligence, based upon your,
your analysts, and then the attack those issues
in those areas, and are not burdened with the
regul ar demand for service.

SGT. SUESS: So continuing with Lieutenant
O Neill, he stated that the npst recent version
of active shooter training was focused nore on

the rescue task force concept, and not active
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shooter response. But he did say there were
sonme active shooter instruction and drills.

And so again just a quick rem nder, the rescue
task force is paranedics, not SWAT nedi cs but
paramedi cs, joining up with | aw enforcenent
officers going into a warm zone, not a hot zone
where there are active threats. He believed
the recent rescue task force training was the
first time that it was mandatory.

Prior active shooter training was
voluntary, and it was typically the sane
deputi es who woul d choose to go to the
training. He described SRO supervisor's
contact with their SROs as, quote, slimto
none. He expressed a concern about deputies
being in specialized units for too | ong, which
may cause | aw enforcenent skills to atrophy.

Si xteen m nutes and thirty-seven seconds
after the first shot Sergeant Rossnan and
Deputy Chi ef Backer joined the G eetham group
on the southeast corner of Building 1. So from
this point forward you will see Sergeant
Rossman quite a bit. You'll see himon Deputy
G eetham s canera, and you will see Sergeant

Rossman's actions fromhis own canera, and sone
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of the audio fromhis canera proved to be
pivotal in the eval uation.

Si xteen m nutes and forty-ei ght seconds
t he Mazzei group has begun to reach the second
floor Ianding on the west end of Building 12.
So again, at this point the first, the Mock
group is on the first floor noving west, and
the Mazzei group is noving up the west stairs.

MR. SCHACHTER: Sergeant, can you -- in
reference to Lieutenant O Neill's coments that
prior active shooter training was voluntary,
and typically the sanme deputies woul d choose to
go to the sane training, howis that consistent
with the training that we heard, how do you
reconcile that?

SGI. SUESS. So part of the -- it was --
It was confusing for us. Sone of the deputies,
we woul d ask them about active shooter
training, and they said, well, we haven't been
to it, but we've been to rescue task force
training. And then sone people woul d explain
how, well, there also were sone active shooter
drills. Ohers would say, well, it was really
just focused on the rescue task force, or

provi di ng energency nedi cal care.
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You know, | nean BSO has provided us with
t he nunbers of the people they've put through
training. | think then the question for the
comm ssion to consider potentially is how
effective is the training. |I'mnot saying it's
effective or ineffective, | think that's just
sonet hing potentially the comm ssion can
consi der.

CHAIR  And we heard, heard sonme of it
previously too, is they were signed up by their
district commanders, so that was sone of it,
where the district commanders are signing them
up, and so you had -- renenber you had sone
pretty significant nunbers that went, and again
this is just one person's viewof it, and there
are different views that different people have.
So this is just one lieutenant's view.

We're just reporting what he said, but,
you know, you know, you get -- you go back to
-- there's no question that this your, and when
he's tal king about recent here, and when he
says in here, you know, what, what's happeni ng
now, he's tal king about 2018, in, you know,
2018, is | told you that they have put, they

conbi ned their rescue task force and their
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active assailant drill into an ei ght hour
bl ock, and they put twelve hundred people
through in 2018, so it's different.

And previously it was two separate bl ocks,
It was RTF, rescue task force, it was active
assai l ant, and people would sign up to go, or
they were assigned by their district
commanders. So there was definitely a
hei ght ened enphasis on it this year than what
It was previously, but they still got a whole
bunch of peopl e through.

ASA BARLETT: (Question. So when the
Mazzei group and the other group cone in, and
they're com ng from opposi ng sides, anybody
that's BSO still cannot talk to Coral Springs
at all.

CHAIR Right. So when the -- the west
group canme in, and the west group went in
first, and then the east group went in second,
and then that's where, you know, they, they
started having the hand contact with each
ot her, because that's right, at that point
there was no communi cation at all between, the
Coral Springs people and the Broward Sheriff's

O fice people could not communicate. And then
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you'll see here as we get into sone nore
slides, we're going to take a break here in a
m nute and then cone back, but you'll see that,
you' Il see a lot of evidence of the radio
throttling, so then on top of all of that the
Broward peopl e coul dn't conmmuni cate anong

t hensel ves either, which led to the use of the
runners, and nore use of the hand signals to
conmuni cat e.

ASA BARTLETT: That's a very bad
situation, because everybody's got their finger
on the trigger.

CHAIR That was a very bad situation,
yeah. Let's get through a few nore, John, then
we'll take a break.

SGT. SUESS: Yes, sir. Alnpst seventeen
m nutes after the first shot Detective Johnson
pul led Martin Duque fromthe east doors of, |I'm
sorry, fromthe doors of O assroons 1214 and
15, and out of the east doors of Building 12.

Si mul t aneously officers pulled Luke Hoyer and
G na Montalto fromthe doorway into the hall

Sevent een m nutes and si xteen seconds

after the first shot Chief Pustizzi from Coral

Springs Police Departnent ran north fromthe
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Sawgr ass Expressway toward the sout heast corner
of Marjory Stoneman Douglas. So in an
interview wth Chief Pustizzi he said after his
arrival he saw sone of his officers stopping
traffic, and others running towards canpus. He
had a level of famliarity due to the SWAT team
having trained at MSD previously. He nade
contact wth Captain Soberon, and attenpted to
| ocate the command post. He |earned from
Captain Soberon that nultiple officers were
handl i ng the tactical response. Chief Pustizzi
directed that a command post be established,
and was unaware that BSO had an i nci dent
commander at that tinme.

Shortly thereafter Lieutenant Feeley would
be seen at the southeast corner of Building 1
wth the G eetham group. Wthin approxi mately
the next ten m nutes he returned beneath the
Sawgr ass Expressway with Deputy Chief Parry.
Li eutenant Feeley stated that he was briefly on
t he Sout heast corner of Building 1. He saw
Deputy Chief Parry there, and ended up
returning to the Sawgrass Expressway to try and
| ocate a conmmand post.

He heard Captain Jordan on the radio, and
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assuned that she would be the incident
commander. Lieutenant Feeley did not
experience any problens with his radio. He was
directed by Sergeant Kallman to go south of the
Sawgr ass Expressway to oversee the staging
area. He described seeing Sergeant M| er
beneat h the Sawgrass, but did not recall
Sergeant MIler giving himany information
about operations on canpus.

Again we're junpi ng ahead wi th Lieutenant
Feeley's statenent. Sergeant MIller at this
point in the chronology is still on Hol nberg
Road. As it pertains to training Lieutenant
Feel ey stated he recalled attending two recent
active shooter training classes, but believed
they were both elective courses for select
I ndi vi dual s.

Seventeen m nutes and twenty-two seconds
after the first shots as deputies are carrying
Martin Duque north fromthe east side of
Bui | di ng Deputy Val des provi ded cover by
pointing his rifle towards the second and third
floors. Deputy Val des nmade approxi mately six
to eight attenpts to transmt on his radio

prior to being successful. You'll see a video
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of this shortly. Eventually nultiple officers
and deputies were able to | oad Martin Duque
onto the rear of a golf cart and he was taken
to the triage site.

This is fromdeputy, or | believe he may
be a detective, Valdes's body cam

(Thereupon, the following video is played in the
open neeting.)

SPEAKER:  All right, | got cover. You
going to take himall the way out?

SPEAKER. Grab his arm grab his arnms.
Ready? Go. Go. Co.

SPEAKER: 541, I'mgoing in -- where do
you want --

SPEAKER: Bring ne sonme cover. Cover ne.

SPEAKER: Ready? Go ahead. Go ahead. o
ahead.

SPEAKER:  Yankee4, we're comng out with
one to fire rescue, one injured person, he's
shot .

DI SPATCH: Yankee451 with one victim

(Thereupon, the video concluded, and the proceedi ngs

continue as follows:)
SGI. SUESS. So you can barely see it, but

on the sidewalk a little further down, that's

800-726-7007

Veritext Legal Solutions

305-376-8800



© 00 N o o~ wWw N

N N N N N N P B P PP R R R R
a A W N BB O © 0O N O 0o~ W N+, O

Page 99

the golf cart where at this point | believe
it's an officer and a deputy are both on there,
and they are nore or less serving as a, as a
transport, as an anbul ance getting victins to
the triage site.

At seventeen mnutes and thirty-six
seconds after the first shot Deputy Chief
Backer says if | can get on the radio |'m going
to ask for the patch. Both Deputy Chief Backer
and Sergeant Rossman appear to have difficulty
transmitting on their radios. | would like to
poi nt out consistently Coral Springs did not
experience problens with their radios. Wat
al nrost certainly happened, and is not unusual
In any, even if you' re responding to a bank
robbery or a shooting |less significant than
this, alot of people are trying to transmt at
the same tine, so if two officers or deputies
try to key up at the sane tinme your radio won't
wor k. That coul d possibly explain the issue
Deputy Chi ef Backer experienced at that point.

Approxi mately ei ghteen m nutes and twenty
seconds after the first shot the Mazzei group
entered the west end of the second floor hall.

Sonme officers remained in the stairwell to
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cover the stairs. So essentially they're,
you' ve got to have sonebody watching those
stairs. Again, they have every reason to
bel i eve the shooter is still inside the
bui l di ng, so in possible anticipation that he
may come down fromthe third floor, they don't
want to be approached from behi nd.

This is the estimated tine at which
Captai n Jordan and Sergeant Sklar woul d have
arrived north of Building 13. Sergeant Skl ar
transmts that we are on scene, and asks where
t he shooter was | ast seen.

MR. SCHACHTER: Sergeant, why didn't
Captain Jordan just run over? Wy did she get
in, take the car?

SGI. SUESS: | didn't ask her that
question specifically. Wuat | can tell you
t hough is at the point she asked Sergeant Skl ar
she was right next to his car. | think it's
safe to assune that's probably the quickest
way .

MR. SCHACHTER: Ckay. Ckay.

SGT. SUESS: Sergeant M| ler she knew was
on Hol nberg Road. And again, this is an

extraordinarily chaotic situation. |'mnot --
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|'mnot trying to say the response was proper
or inproper, but these decisions are being nmade
| nst ant aneousl y.

So Captain Jordan said that after noving
south fromthe west gate on Hol nberg she net
wi th Deputy Perry and Gool sby behind the car on
the north side of Building 13. Based off what
we know it's unlikely that Detective Gool shy
was still by that car. Deputy Perry pointed
out Coach Feis to her, and said that teans were
i nside Building 12. Captain Jordan said she
al so saw the bullet holes on the west end of
Bui | di ng 12.

She said that she continued to have radio
probl ens, and used Deputy Perry's radi o, which
was al so ineffective. She had no recollection
of other deputies joining her. You wll see
|l ater in the presentation that several deputies
woul d join her behind that vehicle. Captain
Robi nson arrived as she was pulling out her
cell phone to call the comrunications center to
try and address the radio problens. It's
I nportant to note that Captain Robi nson woul d
arrive approximately twenty mnutes after

Captain Jordan woul d get behind the car.
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Captai n Robinson, | don't think he's been
I ntroduced, he's the SWAT commander for BSO
You w ||l hear nore about himshortly after.

Ei ghteen m nutes and thirty-two seconds
after the first shot Deputy Chief Parry tells
the G eetham group, so he has joined that
group, that the scene is on the northeast
corner of canpus, and it's a three story
bui | ding. He cautioned everyone that they
still do not know where the shooter is, and
t hey need to watch behind them

SEC. KAPUSTA: Because | believe in a
prior slide BSO transmtted that the, the
suspect was on the north side parking |ot, and
that they had received this information from
Coral Springs three to five mnutes ago, and
here we are nuch later in the process and they
are still saying they don't know where the
shooter is --

SGI. SUESS: Yes, mn'am so --

SEC. KAPUSTA: -- and | haven't seen any
evi dence that they're going after the shooter.

SGI. SUESS: Right. So at this point,
and, you know, we have not yet interviewed

Chief Parry. He will be here tonorrow norning.
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So the information that you're referring to was
recei ved by Coral Springs 911. A dispatcher,
or call taker, apparently relayed that
information to BSO, and it was broadcasted over
BSO s radio. | do not recall off the top of ny
head, we do have the data, about whether that

i nformati on about the shooter being in the
north parking | ot was al so broadcasted over
Coral Springs's radio. | think it's safe to
say that Chief Parry's statenment at that point
Is despite, yes, nmaybe we got information the
shooter is in the north parking lot, we still
don't know where the shooter is, and just
because they were there doesn't nmean they are
still there.

And agai n goi ng back to that rule of plus
one, just because you have information that the
shooter may be there we don't know if there's
one, two, fourteen shooters. Basically he's
just telling these people watch your back, |
don't want anybody to be shot in the back.

SEC. KAPUSTA: So would -- it would not be
routine to send sone responders to that north
side parking lot to, in addition to going to

Bui |l di ng 127
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SGI. SUESS: No, that woul d be routine.
Again we haven't interviewed Chief Parry. [It's
ny understanding that at this point it would
have been conveyed over the Coral Springs radio
that there were a good nunber of officers at
the Building 12 area. Captains Gall agher and
Captai n Mock, Deputy Chief Parry woul d have
al nost certainly known at that point were
I nside Building 12, and Captain Mock being a
SWAT commander is likely the best person to be
in that situation.

CHAIR  You still -- you had deputies up
on Hol nberg Road. Mller is still parked up
there, I nean he still hadn't noved, and you
had ot her ones, so that north parking |ot,
there were people that had eyes on that north
parking lot. There's a couple things that you
can take for granted in any situation, and
especially in a situation like this, there's
going to be a lot of msinformation, and that
the time franes that you get from people are
going to be off, and if sonmebody says two
m nutes nmake it five m nutes.

So they said they saw hi mtwo m nutes ago,

it's going to be longer than that. And that's
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just from experience, that you' re going to get,
it's going to be a ton of msinformation, and
the tines are going to be off, and they're
usually going to be shorter than what it
actually was. And -- and that's just the way
it is. But in the north parking |ot, renmenber
the north parking lot is, and there was
activity in the north parking |ot, and there's
a lot of entry teans that had already cone in
that cane fromthe north, so that north parking
| ot had | aw enforcenment activity init.

And, and there was a fewtines in there
where you heard those transm ssions yesterday
when we went through the 911 calls, and what
you're hearing in this, you know, presentation,
there was a | ot of speculation as to where he
was. And you heard one deputy say in there
that he was probably bunkered down inside, and
he wasn't, so, you know, to some degree you
just don't know, and you have to take it with a
grain of salt.

So let's take a break, John.

SGT. SUESS: Yes, sir.

CHAIR Let's take fifteen mnutes. | got
10:25. We'll cone back at 10:40.
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(Thereupon, the neeting is in recess, and the
proceedi ngs continue as follows:)

CHAIR Al right, we'll go ahead and get
started again. Senator Book, we were able to
find the EAS, what tinme Wstgl ades M ddl e was
in | ockdown, and the best we can tell, that
they were in | ockdown at 2:36 p. m

MR SCHACHTER: Sheriff, can | ask did
they lock the, all the other schools down?

CHAIR | don't know the answer to that,
M. Schachter. | really don't. You're
tal king about |ike the elenentary school s
across the street, et cetera, and all --

MR. SCHACHTER: Yeah, you know.

CHAIR | don't know the answer to that.
| can tell you at the tinme though that, as far
as | know, there were no SRCs at any of the
el ementary schools, or any | aw enforcenent

of ficers.

MR. SCHACHTER: But -- but | nean you know

when there's an active shooter at the high
school the first thing you would do, and you
don't know where he is, is | ock down the other
hi gh schools, m ddl e schools --

CHAl R: It nake sense, but | don't know
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the answer, | just don't know the answer to
your question. | really don't know, you know.
And renenber that they had, as Sergeant Suess
said, Deputy India, who was at West gl ades,
wasn't there, so there was nobody there to hear
the radio at that tine. But anyway, but the
point is that the tinme is 2:36. Go ahead,
John, let's go ahead and get started again.

SGT. SUESS: Yes, sir. So eighteen
m nutes and thirty-ei ght seconds after the
first shot the first nmass evacuation of
civilians began. Excuse ne, |'msorry. Began
from C assroom 1216. The students exited the
east doors, and continued toward Pine Island
Road. So in this nmap you'll start to see these
green circles in each room and that represents
that that room has either been approached, the
door has been approached, or access has been
gai ned by | aw enforcenent. Sone of the roons
it's difficult to tell when they actually
enter, just because of the canera angles, so
that's a point of reference for you as we
conti nue.

So eighteen mnutes and forty seconds

after the first shot Deputy Chief Backer and
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Sergeant Rossman had a brief conversation about
pat chi ng radi os, incident conmand, and getting
a map of the school.
(Thereupon, the following video is played in the
open neeting.)
SPEAKER:  Who is your incident commander,
and we need --

SPEAKER: -- K9 to the north parking | ot

SPEAKER: W need a map of the school. W
need a map of the school. W need a map of the
school, and we need to get the radi os patched.

SPEAKER: |I'm working on our end to get
t hem pat ched.

SPEAKER: 2, we need to get these radios
pat ched wi th BSO

(Thereupon, the video concluded, and the proceedi ngs
continue as follows:)

MR. SCHACHTER: \What -- what is standard
operating procedure if you do not know where an
active shooter is, do you evacuate people unti
you find the active shooter, or, you know, how
do you normally play it? Do you keep everybody
| ocked down before you evacuate until you find

t he suspect, or --
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CHAIR  Yeah, because you want -- yes. |
mean, you know, again, and there's sone nmany --
what's a standard operating procedure, you
really have to, it depends upon the
ci rcunstances, the situation, the buil ding
you' re dealing with, the environnment that
you're in, et cetera, you know, and so, you
know, it's been, as has been explained is, is
that while there is active shooting going